

Personnel Policies Manual

Adopted by the Board of Supervisors

May 2, 2016

Table of Contents

1.	INTR	ODUCTION	7
	1.1	PURPOSE OF THE PERSONNEL POLICIES	7
	1.2	APPLICABILITY OF POLICIES	7
	1.3	DISSEMINATION OF POLICIES	
	1.4	DEFINITIONS	
2.		LIFICATIONS FOR EMPLOYMENT	10
	2.1	EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY AND ACCOMMODATION	
	2.4	PHYSICAL STANDARDS	
	2.5	EMPLOYMENT INVESTIGATIONS	
	2.6	FORM OF APPLICATION	
	2.7	OTHER STANDARDS FOR EMPLOYMENT	
	2.8	CODE OF CONDUCT FOR PUBLIC SERVICE TO PITTSYLVANI.	
	2.0	COUNTY	
	2.10	ANTI-NEPOTISM POLICY	
	2.11	PRE-EMPLOYMENT RECRUITMENT AND APPLICATION	
	2.11	PROCEDURES	
	2.12	IMMIGRATION LAW COMPLIANCE	
3.		DINTMENTS	
٥.		VACANCIES	
4.		SSIFICATION OF POSITIONS	
••	4.1	CLASSIFICATION PLAN	
	4.2	COVERAGE	
	4.3	ASSIGNMENT OF POSITIONS	26
	4.4	RECLASSIFICATION AND/OR GRADE CHANGES	
	4.5	CLASSIFICATION OF NEW POSITIONS	
	4.6	CLASSIFICATION OF EMPLOYMENT	
5.		OF EMPLOYEES	
•	5.1	COMPENSATION AND CLASSIFICATION DEFINITIONS	
	5.2	PAY PLAN	
	5.3	NEW EMPLOYEES	
	5.4	PROMOTIONS	
	5.5	REHIRED / REINSTATED EMPLOYEES	
	5.7	DEMOTIONS	
	5.9	EMERGENCY CALL BACK POLICY	31
	5.10	ON CALL POLICY	
	5.11	DEDUCTIONS	
	5.12	DEDUCTIONS UPON SEPARATION OF EMPLOYMENT	
6.	_	LOYEE LEAVE	
•	6.2	VACATION LEAVE	
	6.3	SICK LEAVE	
	6.4	BEREAVEMENT LEAVE	
	6.5	INJURY LEAVE	
	6.6	PERSONAL LEAVE HOURS	

	6.7	INCLEMENT WEATHER	39
	6.8	COURT LEAVE	42
	6.9	MILITARY LEAVE	
	6.10	PERSONAL LEAVE OF ABSENCE	44
	6.11	ADMINISTRATIVE LEAVE	
	6.12	HOLIDAYS	
	6.13	CIVIC AND VOLUNTEER LEAVE	46
	6.14	FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE	
7.	SEPA	RATIONS AND DISCIPLINE	51
	7.1	VOLUNTARY SEPARATIONS - RESIGNATION	51
	7.2	LAYOFF	51
	7.3	RETIREMENT	52
	7.5	EMPLOYEE TERMINATION PROTOCOL AND COUNTY OWNE	D
		PROPERTY UPON TERMINATION	55
	7.8	EXIT INTERVIEW AND RE-EMPLOYMENT	58
8.	EMPL	OYEE SUMMARY OF BENEFITS	58
9.		RVICE ACTIVITIES	
	9.1	JOB RELATED TRAINING	61
10.	EDUC	CATIONAL BENEFITS	60
11.	EMPL	OYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM POLICY STATEMENT	62
12.	DRUG	S AND ALCOHOL-FREE WORKPLACE	63
	12.1		
	12.2	COVERED WORKERS	63
	12.3	APPLICABILITY	63
	12.4	PROHIBITED BEHAVIOR	63
	12.5	NOTIFICATION OF CONVICTIONS	64
	12.6	SEARCHES	64
	12.7	TESTING	65
	12.8	CONSEQUENCES	67
	12.9	ASSISTANCE	68
	12.10	CONFIDENTIALITY	68
	12.11	SHARED RESPONSIBILITY	68
	12.12	COMMUNICATION	69
13.	TOBA	CCO USE POLICY	70
	13.1	= =	
	13.2	DEFINITIONS	71
		AUTHORITY	
14.		CTIOUS DISEASE CONTROL POLICY	
		PREVENTING THE SPREAD OF INFECTION IN THE WORKPLACE.	
	14.2	SOCIAL DISTANCING GUIDELINES FOR WORKPLACE	72
15.		CITATION	
16.		NG	
17.		SSMENT AND CONDUCT	
		SEXUAL HARASSMENT	
	17 2	VIOLATIONS AND REPORTING	76

			•••••		
	17.7 VI	OLENCE PREVENT	TION		77
18.	GRIEVAI	NCE PROCEDURE			77
	18.2 DE	EFINITION OF GRIE	EVANCE		77
	18.3 NO	ON-GRIEVABLE CO	OMPLAINTS		78
	18.4 GI	RIEVABILITY			78
	18.5 PF	ROCEDURES			79
	18.6 GI	ENERAL TERMS A	ND CONDITIONS		81
	18.7 RI	ECORDKEEPING			81
19.	EMPLOY	EE PERFORMANC	CE REVIEW		82
	19.1 FF	REQUENCY			83
	19.2 FC	ORMS			83
20.	TRAVEL	AND EXPENSE PO	DLICY		83
	20.1 PL	JRPOSE			83
	20.2 GI	ENERAL			84
	20.3 MI	EAL ALLOWANCE			84
	20.4 MI	ILEAGE REIMBURS	SEMENT		84
	20.5 NO	ON-REIMBURSABL	E TRAVEL EXPENSES.		85
21.	HEALTH	AND SAFETY			85
	21.1 O	CCUPATIONAL SA	FETY AND HEALTH		85
	21.2 SE	ELF-INSPECTION :	SAFETY PROGRAM		86
	21.3 AC	CCIDENT OR INJUI	RY INCIDENT INVESTIG	SATION PRO	GRAM88
	21.4 W	ORKERS' COMPEN	NSATION		89
	21.5 R	ETURN-TO-WORK	POLICY		90
	21.6 VE	EHICLE SAFETY PO	OLICY AND DRIVER RE	QUIREMENT	ΓS91
22.	ELECTR	ONIC COMMUNICA	ATIONS ACCEPTABLE U	JSE	95
			R USAGE		
			DEVICE POLICY		
	22.3 SC	OCIAL MEDIA POLI	CY		96
23.	POLITIC	AL ACTIVITY			97
24.					
	24.2 GI	ENERAL REQUIRE	MENTS TO USE CREDI	T CARDS	98
	24.3 CA	ARD ISSUANCE:			98
			INAPPROPRIATE USE:		
			ON:		
	24.7 CF	REDIT CARD ACCO	DUNTABILITY:		100
			RECONCILIATION,		
25.			,		
26.			I AND SERVICE AWARD		
27.	INTERNS	SHIPS			104

28.	SEVERABILITY AND MODIFICATIONS106
The	e most current edition of this manual can be found on the County website at: www.pittsylvaniacountyva.gov

NOTHING CONTAINED IN THIS HANDBOOK IS INTENDED TO CREATE (NOR SHALL BE CONSTRUED AS CREATING) A CONTRACT OF EMPLOYMENT (EXPRESS OR IMPLIED) OR GUARANTEE OF EMPLOYMENT FOR ANY SPECIFIC PERIOD OF TIME OR FOR ANY SPECIFIC PROCEDURES OR TYPE OF WORK. EITHER YOU OR THE COUNTY MAY TERMINATE THE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONSHIP AT ANY TIME, FOR ANY REASON, WITH OR WITHOUT CAUSE OR NOTICE.

NOTHING CONTAINED IN THE HANDBOOK IS INTENDED IN ANY FASHION TO PROHIBIT, RESTRICT, OR INTERFERE WITH CONDUCT PROTECTED BY THE NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS ACT. THIS INCLUDES, AMONG OTHER THINGS, ENGAGING IN "PROTECTED CONCERTED ACTIVITIES."

THE POLICIES, PROCEDURES, BENEFITS AND OTHER PROGRAMS CONTAINED IN THIS HANDBOOK MAY BE MODIFIED, AMENDED, OR CANCELED BY THE COUNTY AT ANY TIME WITH OR WITHOUT ADVANCED NOTICE.

PITTSYLVANIA COUNTY, VIRGINIA PERSONNEL POLICY MANUAL

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 PURPOSE OF THE PERSONNEL POLICIES

It is the policy of the Pittsylvania County Board of Supervisors to establish:

The following policies, regulations, and other administrative provisions for personnel administration by the Board of Supervisors for Pittsylvania County for the information and guidance of all County employees.

- A. To provide equitable conditions of employment for County employees;
- B. To establish and maintain uniform standards of employment and compensation; and,
- C. To provide assistance to department directors and supervisors in their administration of personnel matters.

The Pittsylvania County Personnel Policies Manual establishes general County policies and procedures to be used by all County employees covered by the Manual and provides a description of the County's benefits and the general County policies pertaining to benefits provided to employees. Policies may not always be aligned with all individual circumstances and there may be situations which may require interpretation of existing policies or a ruling in conjunction with an employee action related to the policies. If such interpretations are necessary, procedures for such interpretations are established and interpretations shall be made in keeping with the intent of the policies and procedures.

The County Administrator has sole authority to modify or interpret any provisions or terms in this Manual. Any and all policies in this Manual may be modified, amended, or rescinded at the sole discretion of the County Administrator, with or without notice.

The masculine pronoun as used in this Manual is intended to apply to both genders.

1.2 APPLICABILITY OF POLICIES

The policies herein established shall apply to all employees of the County except the following:

- A. Employees of the Pittsylvania County Public Schools;
- B. Any employee specifically exempted by action of the Board of Supervisors; and
- C. Constitutional Officers and their appointees not specifically covered by the latest revised Cooperative Agreement.

The County Administrator has the authority to take appropriate action in dealing with cases of violation of the established policies. No employee can be exempted from the grievance procedure contained herein with the exception of Constitutional Officers, those identified in Section 1.2 of this policy, and those identified in Section 18.1 of this policy.

It should be noted that boards established by the Board of Supervisors do not have authority to change County policy. Rather, such boards only have authority to act on those matters that specifically allow decisions or interpretations as defined in this Manual.

The policies herein established shall apply to appointees of the County's Constitutional Officers to the extent agreed upon by the respective Constitutional Officers, and the Board of Supervisors, and as documented in any Cooperative Agreements that may be agreed to by all parties and adopted by the Board of Supervisors.

1.3 DISSEMINATION OF POLICIES

The County Administrator will make public, complete copies of all policies and changes thereto, and shall be responsible for maintaining complete current policies. Employees will be provided with various changes and updates. In addition, a copy shall be maintained in the office of each department director. Each County employee shall be given a copy of the personnel policies upon adoption of these policies by the Pittsylvania County Board of Supervisors. Future employees shall receive a copy of the current personnel policies when they begin their employment service with the County. All employees will acknowledge receipt of these policies via a signed and dated statement, which will be maintained within the employee's personnel file. The statement shall include the employee's confirmation that these policies have been read and are understood by the employee. The Personnel Policies Manual shall be available for review by any employee or the public during the County's regular business hours.

1.4 DEFINITIONS

Where used within this Manual, the following words and terms shall have the meaning indicated below:

- A. ALLOCATION. The assignment of an individual position to an appropriate grade of positions on the basis of the kind, difficulty, required skill, and responsibility of the work performed.
- B. APPOINTING AUTHORITY. That officer or body having authority under the ordinances of the County to make appointments to positions. Unless otherwise specified, the appointing authority shall be construed to be the County Administrator.
- C. APPOINTEE. A term used by the Constitutional Offices to designate those who work at the pleasure of the Constitutional Officer. The term "employee" as

used in this Manual also applies to the appointee except where otherwise designated.

- D. GRADE. A position or group of positions which are sufficiently alike in job evaluation factors (such as essential job functions, degree of supervision, minimum education requirements, experience or skill and other such characteristics) to be equitably assigned the same grade, and the same salary range.
- E. CLASSIFICATION. The entire process of assigning and reassigning positions to grades and to the end that employees will be employed and compensated on the basis of merit, and actual duties performed so that there may exist equal pay for equal work.
- F. JOB DESCRIPTION. A written description of a position containing a title, statement of typical duties, responsibilities, and minimum or desirable qualifications for applicants or incumbents to insure satisfactory performance.
- G. DEMOTION. The change of an employee from a position in one grade to a position in a lower pay grade.
- H. GRADE OR PAY GRADE. The numerical designation of a fixed salary range assigned to a position.
- I. IMMEDIATE FAMILY. Includes: the father, mother, child, spouse, father-in-law, mother-in-law, grandparent, grandchildren, stepparent, stepchild, brother/stepbrother, sister/stepsister, aunt, uncle, grandparent of spouse, or any relative living in the household of the employee.
- J. MERIT INCREASE. Advancement in pay of an employee to a higher pay rate within the pay grade based upon performance that consistently exceeds expectations as defined in the performance review document.
- K. PERFORMANCE REVIEW. A formal review and evaluation of an employee's essential job functions, core competencies, and development. A performance review will be completed by the employee's supervisor upon completion of the introductory period of six months, and annually at the end of the calendar year.
- L. INTRODUCTORY PERIOD. A working test period, not to exceed six (6) months, during which an employee is required to demonstrate satisfactory performance in carrying out the essential functions of the job and core competencies. The introductory period may be extended if approved by the department head. Employees dismissed during their introductory period do not have the right to use the grievance procedure outlined in Section 18.

- M. NORMAL WORK WEEK. The total number of hours expected to be worked by an employee in a seven-day period is considered the normal work week. The number of hours varies by department. The standard work week is the period from 12:01 a.m. Sunday through 12:00 midnight the following Saturday. Normal work hours are 8 a.m. to 5 p.m. Monday through Friday.
- N. VIRGINIA RETIREMENT SYSTEM (VRS) HYBRID PLAN. You are covered under the Hybrid Retirement Plan if your membership/hire date is on or after January 1, 2014.
- O. VRS PLAN 1. You are covered under Plan 1 if you were hired or re-hired before July 1, 2010 and have at least five years of service credit as of January 1, 2013, and have not taken a refund.
- P. VRS PLAN 2. You are covered under Plan 2 if your membership/hire date is on or after July 1, 2010, or before July 1, 2010, and you were not vested (you had less than five years of service credit) as of January 1, 2013. Eligible employees include: Full-time salaried, sworn sheriffs; Full-time salaried, sworn deputy sheriffs; Superintendents and sworn officers of regional jails; and Full-time salaried, sworn local law enforcement officers, firefighters and emergency medical technicians.

QUALIFICATIONS FOR EMPLOYMENT

2.1 EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY AND ACCOMMODATION

The County is committed to fostering, cultivating, and preserving a culture of diversity and inclusion to create an equitable work environment. We embrace the collective mixtures of our employees' differences and similarities. We are proud of the fact that we extend equal opportunity in employment and to administer employment policies without regard to race, color, religion, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, age, national origin, genetic makeup, veteran status, or disability, which if needing accommodation, may be reasonably accommodated as required by law. Pittsylvania County is an equal opportunity employer that strives to adhere to the provisions of the Equal Opportunity Act with the goal of maintaining and promoting equal employment opportunity for all employees and applicants for employment. This policy applies to every aspect of our employment practices including, but not limited to the following:

- A. Recruiting, hiring and promoting in all job classifications without regard to race, color, religion, sex, age, national origin, political affiliation, or disability except where such a factor can be demonstrated as a bona fide occupational qualification.
- B. All decisions for hiring or promotions shall be based solely upon each individual's qualifications for the position to be filled.

- C. Other personnel actions such as compensation, benefits, transfers, layoffs, training, assignments, will be administered without regard to race, color, religion, national origin, sex, age, political affiliation, or disability.
- D. Persons with Disabilities: It is the policy of the County to comply with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), as amended, and all other applicable federal and state laws concerning the employment of individuals with disabilities. County policy prohibits discrimination against qualified individuals with disabilities with regard to access, application, hiring, advancement, discharge, compensation, training, or other terms, conditions and privileges of employment. A qualified employee or applicant is one who is able to perform the essential functions of the job with or without accommodation. The County will afford reasonable accommodations to qualified applicants and individuals with disabilities that will enable them to perform the essential functions of a job unless doing so would create an undue hardship or would cause a direct threat to the health and safety of the individual or others in the workplace that cannot be eliminated or reduced by reasonable accommodation. It is critical that both parties engage in the interactive process to assist the County in determining what, if any, accommodations can be made to assist the employee. Please contact Human Resources with any questions/requests for accommodation. Human Resources is responsible for implementing this policy, including the resolution of reasonable accommodation, undue hardship, and direct threat issues. In addressing reasonable accommodation requests or needs, Human Resources will engage in an interactive process with the applicant or employee to determine whether the accommodation can be afforded.

E. Pregnancy and Childbirth Accommodation

Protections from Discrimination – Va. Code § 2.2-3909

Effective July 1, 2020, employers with five or more employees for a 20-week period in the current or preceding year must provide reasonable accommodations for pregnancy, childbirth or related medical conditions, including lactation, unless the accommodation would impose an undue hardship. Employers also may not, in response to a request for a reasonable accommodation for pregnancy: take adverse actions against an employee; deny employment or promotions; or require an employee to take leave if another reasonable accommodation can be provided.

Reasonable Accommodations

Examples of reasonable accommodations include more frequent or longer bathroom breaks, breaks to express breast milk, access to a private location other than a bathroom for the expression of breast milk, acquisition or modification of equipment or access to or modification of employee seating, a temporary transfer to a less strenuous or hazardous position, assistance with manual labor, job restructuring, a modified work schedule, light duty assignments, and leave to recover from childbirth.

Interactive Process

When an employee requests an accommodation, employers must engage in a timely, good faith interactive process with the employee to determine if the requested accommodation is reasonable and, if not, discuss alternative reasonable accommodations that may be provided.

Complaints

Questions and complaints can be directed to Human Resources.

2.2 DIVERSITY POLICY

Pittsylvania County is committed to fostering, cultivating and preserving a culture of diversity and inclusion. Our human capital is the most valuable asset we have. The collective sum of the individual differences, life experiences, knowledge, inventiveness, innovation, self-expression, unique capabilities and talent that our employees invest in their work represents a significant part of not only our culture, but our reputation and achievements as well.

We embrace and encourage our employees' differences in age, color, disability, ethnicity, family or marital status, gender identity or expression, language, national origin, physical and mental ability, political affiliation, race, religion, sexual orientation, socio-economic status, veteran status, and other characteristics that make our employees unique.

Pittsylvania County's diversity initiatives are applicable—but not limited—to our practices and policies on recruitment and selection; compensation and benefits; professional development and training; promotions; transfers; social and recreational programs; layoffs; terminations; and the ongoing development of a work environment built on the premise of gender and diversity equity that encourages and enforces:

- Respectful communication and cooperation between all employees.
- Teamwork and employee participation, permitting the representation of all groups and employee perspectives.
- Work/life balance through flexible work schedules to accommodate employees' varying needs.
- Employer and employee contributions to the communities and citizens we serve to promote a greater understanding and respect for diversity.

All employees of Pittsylvania County have a responsibility to treat others with dignity and respect at all times. All employees are expected to exhibit conduct that reflects inclusion during work, at work functions on or off the work site, and at all other company-sponsored and participative events.

Any employee found to have exhibited any inappropriate conduct or behavior against others may be subject to disciplinary action.

Employees who believe they have been subjected to any kind of discrimination that conflicts with the company's diversity policy and initiatives should seek assistance from Human Resources.

2.3 OUTSIDE EMPLOYMENT

Pittsylvania County considers itself to be the primary employer for all employees who are not temporary or relief, and requires that activities away from the job must not adversely affect the employee's primary job performance or compromise the County's interests through conflicts of interest, or the appearance of conflicts of interest.

Before seeking or accepting outside employment, employees are cautioned to consider carefully the demands that such additional employment will create. Outside employment will not be considered an excuse for poor job performance, absenteeism, tardiness, refusal to travel, or refusal to work overtime or different hours.

The employee shall notify the Department Head in writing when he is involved in outside employment within ten (10) business days of obtaining such position.

In addition, employees are not to conduct any business related to outside employment during County paid working time. Conflicting outside employment shall be grounds for disciplinary action up to and including termination of employment.

2.4 PHYSICAL STANDARDS

Applicants for employment and employees may be required to have a physical examination at any time and, (as a condition to employment) must meet the physical standards, with or without accommodation, established for the position for which they apply.

2.5 EMPLOYMENT INVESTIGATIONS

All applicants will be subject to a criminal background check, drug screen, reference checks, and educational background check (if applicable). The County will not inquire about misdemeanor marijuana possession convictions of employees, as they are sealed from employers by Virginia law. Applicants may be subject to optional tests considered necessary for the position applied for, including a Department of Motor Vehicle record check, a polygraph examination, psychological tests, credit reports where appropriate, and other bona-fide pre-employment investigations.

Various departments, where the handling of cash is necessary, may periodically require employee credit checks at a manager's recommendation, if approved by the County Administrator.

Seasonal and temporary employees will be tested as necessary for the position.

When required by a department, an applicant may be fingerprinted to determine his criminal record, if any, prior to being considered for employment or after hire date as may be required to comply with standards as set forth by local, state, or federal government. All pre-hire inquiries will be limited to those applicable to the position for which the applicant is applying and will be job related.

2.6 FORM OF APPLICATION

All applicants for employment must fill out and furnish complete information on the Employment Application Form. Information shall include residence, training, experience, references, and other pertinent information, and may require certificates of one or more examining physicians, depending on the position. The Employment Application is located on the County website: pittsylvaniacountyva.gov/jobs.

2.7 OTHER STANDARDS FOR EMPLOYMENT

Where other standards or requirements for a particular position are established, all applicants shall be required to meet those standards as condition of employment.

2.8 CODE OF CONDUCT FOR PUBLIC SERVICE TO PITTSYLVANIA COUNTY

In such instances when concerns are observed, the employee has the obligation to notify the County Administrator of such concern. If the matter involves the County Administrator, the employee shall deviate to another appropriate official.

Pittsylvania County requires that employees follow this "Code of Conduct for Public Service to Pittsylvania County," reflecting the highest ethical standards and promoting public confidence in County government. This policy is not intended to supersede more stringent codes of conduct adopted by individual departments or offices.

This Code shall be operative in all instances covered by its provisions except when superseded by an applicable statutory or other provision and statutory or other action is mandatory, or when the application of a statutory or other provision is discretionary, but determined to be more appropriate or desirable.

The effective operation of democratic government requires that public officials and employees be independent, impartial, and responsible to the people; that government

decisions and policy be made through the proper channels of the governmental structure; that public office not be used for personal gain; and that the public has confidence in the integrity of its government.

Although the County's Personnel Policies Manual governs the standard of conduct for employees, it is understood that the County Administrator serves at the pleasure of the Board of Supervisors and therefore cannot directly govern the acts of the individual members of the Board. However, County employees shall be alert to situations that pose direct conflict with the Code of Conduct within this section.

The purpose of this Code is to establish standards of ethical conduct for employees by setting forth those acts or actions that are incompatible with the best interests of the County. The provisions and purpose of this Code and accompanying rules and regulations are established in the best interests of Pittsylvania County.

- A. Responsibilities of Public Office Public employees are agents of the citizens and are entrusted to pursue the public good at all times. As such, they are expected to display the highest degree of integrity and are bound to uphold the Constitution of the Commonwealth of Virginia and to carry out impartially the laws of the nation, state, and County, thus fostering respect for all government. They are bound to observe in their official acts the highest ethical standards and to discharge faithfully the duties of their office regardless of personal considerations with courtesy and respect, always recognizing that the public interest must be their primary concern.
- B. Dedicated Service All Pittsylvania County employees are expected to be loyal to the objectives expressed by the electorate through the Board of Supervisors. Employees shall adhere to the rules of work and performance established as the standard for their positions. Employees shall not exceed their authority, breach the law or ask others to do so, and shall work in full cooperation with other employees and departments unless prohibited from so doing by law or by officially recognized confidentiality concerns.
- C. Fair and Equal Treatment No employee shall grant any special consideration, treatment, or advantage to any citizen beyond that which is available to every other citizen.

No employee shall use or permit the use of County-owned vehicles, equipment, materials, or property for personal convenience or profit, except when such services are available to the public generally, or are provided as public policy for the use of such employees in the conduct of official business.

1. Conflict of Interest - As provided in Title 2.1 of the Code of Virginia ("The Virginia Conflict of Interests Act") no employee shall engage in any private financial or other interest which might impact the performance of his official duties. The County respects all individuals' rights to engage in activities outside their employment that are private in nature (e.g., social, community, political, religious, etc.). Employees are also bound by the additional guidance outlined below:

- a) Incompatible Employment: No employee shall engage in or accept other employment or render services for private interests when such employment or service is incompatible with the proper discharge of his official duties or would impair his/her independent judgment or action in the performance of his official duties. With Department Head's approval, employees may engage in other employment that does not interfere with or present a conflict of interest with County employment;
- b) Disclosure of Confidential Information: No employee shall, without proper authorizations, disclose confidential information concerning the property, government, or affairs of the County, which would advance the financial or other special interest of himself or others;
- c) Gifts and Favors: No employee shall accept any gift or favor of more than nominal value, whether in the form of service, loan, thing, or promise, from any person, firm, or corporation, intended to, or which may, influence him in the discharge of his duties; and
- d) Representing Private Interests before County Agencies or Courts: No employee shall represent his own or any other private interest before any agency of the County, unless he is doing so as a member of a civic organization, or is speaking on an issue of general public interest;
- 2. Consequences of Violation Violation of any section of this policy may constitute a cause for disciplinary action up to and including dismissal.
- 3. Conflict of Interest (Board member) This policy shall affirm standards of conduct established to ensure that Board members and employees avoid potential and actual conflicts of interest, as well as the perception of a conflict of interest.
 - a) Confidential information shall mean information not obtainable from reviewing a public document or from making inquiry to a publicly available source of information.
 - b) Conflict or Conflict of interest shall mean use by a Board member or employee of the authority of his/her office or employment, or any confidential information received through his/her holding public office or employment, for the private pecuniary benefit of him/herself, a member of his/her immediate family or a business with which s/he or a member of his/her immediate family is associated. The term does not include an action having a de minimis economic impact, or which affects to class degree consisting of the the same а general or a subclass consisting of an industry, occupation or other group which includes the Board member or employee, a member of his/her immediate family or a business with which s/he or a member of his/her immediate family is associated.

- c) Apparent Conflict of Interest shall mean a situation in which a reasonable person would perceive that a decision-maker's (Board member or employee) judgment is likely to be compromised.
- d) De minimis economic impact shall mean an economic consequence which has an insignificant effect.
- e) Financial interest shall mean any financial interest in a legal entity engaged in business for profit which comprises more than five percent (5%) of the equity of the business or more than five percent (5%) of the assets of the economic interest in indebtedness.
- f) Honorarium shall mean payment made in recognition of published works, appearances, speeches and presentations, and which is not intended as consideration for the value of such services which are nonpublic occupational or professional in nature. The term does not include tokens presented or provided which are of de minimis economic impact.
- g) Immediate family shall mean a parent, parent-in-law, spouse, child, spouse of a child, brother, brother-in-law, sister, sister-in-law, or the domestic partner of a parent, child, brother or sister.
- h) Business partner shall mean a person who, along with another person, plays a significant role in owning, managing, or creating a company in which both individuals have a financial interest in the company.
- i) Each employee and Board member shall be responsible to maintain standards of conduct that avoid conflicts of interest. The Board prohibits members of the Board and employees from engaging in conduct that constitutes a conflict of interest as outlined in this policy.
- j) All Board members and employees shall be provided with a copy of this policy and acknowledge in writing that they have been made aware of it. Additional training shall be provided to designated individuals.

Disclosure of Financial Interests

 No Board member shall be allowed to take the oath of office or enter or continue upon his/her duties, nor shall s/he receive compensation from public funds, unless s/he has filed a statement of financial interests as required by law.

Standards of Conduct

- Pittsylvania County maintains the following standards of conduct covering conflicts
 of interest and governing the actions of its employees and Board members
 engaged in the selection, award and administration of contracts.
- No employee or Board member may participate in the selection, award or administration of a contract supported by a federal award if s/he has a real or apparent conflict of interest as defined above, as well as any other circumstance in which the employee, Board member, any member of his/her immediate family, his/her business partner, or an organization which employs or is about to employ any of them, has a financial or other interest in or a tangible personal benefit from a firm considered for a contract.
- Pittsylvania County shall not enter into any contract with a Board member or employee, or his/her spouse or child, or any business in which the person or his/her spouse or child is associated valued at \$500 or more, nor in which the person or

spouse or child or business with which associated is a subcontractor unless the Board has determined it is in the best interests of the Pittsylvania County to do so, and the contract has been awarded through an open and public process, including prior public notice and subsequent public disclosure of all proposals considered and contracts awarded. In such a case, the Board member or employee shall not have any supervisory or overall responsibility for the implementation or administration of the contract.

- When advertised formal bidding is not required or used, an open and public process shall include at a minimum:
 - 1. Public notice of the intent to contract for goods or services;
 - 2. A reasonable amount of time for potential contractors to consider whether to offer
 - quotes; and
 - 3. Post-award public disclosure of who made bids or quotes and who was chosen.
- Any Board member or employee who in the discharge of his/her official duties would be required to vote on a matter that would result in a conflict of interest shall abstain from voting and, prior to the vote being taken, publicly announce and disclose the nature of his/her interest as a public record.
- No public official or public employee shall accept an honorarium.
- Board members and employees may neither solicit nor accept gratuities, favors or anything of monetary value from contractors or parties to subcontracts, unless the gift is an unsolicited item of nominal value. Gifts of a nominal value may be accepted in accordance with Board policy.

Improper Influence

- No person shall offer or give to a Board member, employee or nominee or candidate for the Board, or a member of his/her immediate family or a business with which s/he is associated, anything of monetary value, including a gift, loan, political contribution, reward or promise of future employment based on the offeror's or donor's understanding that the vote, official action or judgment of the Board member, employee or nominee or candidate for the Board would be influenced thereby.
- No Board member, employee or nominee or candidate for the Board shall solicit or accept anything of monetary value, including a gift, loan, political contribution, reward or promise of future employment, based on any understanding of that Board member, employee or nominee or candidate that the vote, official action or judgment of the Board member, employee or nominee or candidate for the Board would be influenced thereby.

Organizational Conflicts

 Organizational conflicts of interest may exist when due to the Pittsylvania County's relationship with a subsidiary, affiliated or parent organization that is a candidate for award of a contract in connection with federally funded activities, Pittsylvania

- County may be unable or appear to be unable to be impartial in conducting a procurement action involving a related organization.
- In the event of a potential organizational conflict, the potential conflict shall be reviewed by the County Administrator or designee to determine whether it is likely that Pittsylvania County would be unable or appear to be unable to be impartial in making the award. If such likelihood exists, this shall not disqualify the related organization; however, the following measures shall be applied:
 - 1. The organizational relationship shall be disclosed as part of any notices to potential contractors;
 - 2. Any Pittsylvania County employees or officials directly involved in the activities of the related organization are excluded from the selection and award process;
 - 3. A competitive bid, quote or other basis of valuation is considered; and
 - 4. The Board has determined that contracting with the related organization is in the best interests of the program involved.

Reporting

- Any perceived conflict of interest that is detected or suspected by any employee or third party shall be reported to the County Administrator. If the County Administrator and/or Finance Director is the subject of the perceived conflict of interest, the employee or third party shall report the incident to the Board Chairperson.
- Any perceived conflict of interest of a Board member that is detected or suspected by any employee or third party shall be reported to the Board Chairperson. If the Board Chairperson is the subject of the perceived conflict of interest, the employee or third party shall report the incident to the County Administrator, who shall report the incident to the solicitor.
- No reprisals or retaliation shall occur as a result of good faith reports of conflicts of interest.

Investigation

- Investigations based on reports of perceived violations of this policy shall comply
 with state and federal laws and regulations. No person sharing in the potential
 conflict of interest being investigated shall be involved in conducting the
 investigation or reviewing its results.
- In the event an investigation determines that a violation of this policy has occurred, the violation shall be reported to the federal awarding agency in accordance with that agency's policies.

Disciplinary Actions

- If an investigation results in a finding that the complaint is factual and constitutes a violation of this policy, Pittsylvania County shall take prompt, corrective action to ensure that such conduct ceases and will not recur. Pittsylvania County staff shall document the corrective action taken and, when not prohibited by law, inform the complainant.
- Violations of this policy may result in disciplinary action up to and including discharge, fines and possible imprisonment. Disciplinary actions shall be

consistent with Board policies, procedures, applicable collective bargaining agreements and state and federal laws.

D. Money Matters, Fraud, and Embezzlement

The County considers any form of fraud or dishonesty on the part of its employees/volunteers as totally unacceptable conduct. Claims of fraudulent or dishonest behavior will be investigated. Any money collected for services must be kept safe and in accordance with all state and federal laws. Failure to timely handle County money may constitute embezzlement or theft. It is never appropriate to solicit money or other tangible benefits ("gifts") from anyone we do business with, including our clients. Theft of any kind, including stealing from client accounts is strictly prohibited. A violation of this policy will result in disciplinary action up to and including termination

The County reserves the right to take any lawful action, including filing criminal charges, against an employee who embezzles or attempts to defraud clients or the County.

E. Member Relations and Visitors

The County realizes it is good business to acquaint the general public with our services and function in the business world. Courteous and intelligent treatment of clients and the general public by all of our employees with whom they may come in contact helps to make and retain a good public image and to secure future business. All employees should greet and introduce themselves to clients and members of the public while at the workplace.

Visitors not on County-related business are not allowed into working areas at any time. A visitor is anyone not currently employed by the County, but does not include employees' family members and friends so long as they are not a distraction to employees. Employees are not permitted to "babysit" their children or children of others during working hours.

2.9 DRESS CODE

Pittsylvania County is a public service delivery organization and expects all employees to dress appropriately for a business environment and in keeping with his work assignment. Public image plays an important role in developing and maintaining support for the organization. The County values and embraces the diversity of the its employees and will not discriminate against employees based on traits historically associated with race, including but not limited to hair style, hair type or hair texture. The County fully intends that the enforcement of this policy shall not conflict with the County's obligations under federal EEO laws and standards. Please speak with Management if you have any questions or concerns and would like to discuss a religious exception to the County personal appearance policies. To maintain the confidence and respect of the citizens of

Pittsylvania County, each employee must exercise good judgment and professional decision-making in choosing workplace attire.

- A. Objective To establish clear guidelines regarding employee attire, taking into account the variety of work assignments.
- B. General Guidelines The following guidelines establish the general expectations regarding employee attire. Every employee is expected to exercise good judgment in dressing appropriately for his work assignment. The following list is not intended to include every possible scenario, but provides guidelines for employee and supervisory decisions.
- 1. Clothing, jewelry, and accessories must not create a safety hazard for the employee or others;
- 2. All clothing must be in good condition without holes, excessive wear, or staining from use or design;
- 3. Clothing shall not display implied or stated profanity, advertisements or logos for alcohol, tobacco products and/or illegal, racial, or sexual connotations;
- 4. Political endorsements may not be worn on clothing, badges, or any other ways that are visible to the public;
- 5. Employees shall be clean, well-groomed and demonstrate acceptable personal hygiene;
 - 6. Appropriate undergarments must be worn;
- 7. Employees shall not normally wear jewelry in facial and/or tongue piercing(s);
- 8. Excessive or offensive (profanity, nudity, illegal acts, racial/ethnic slurs) tattoos must not be visible; and
 - 9. Appropriate footwear must be worn.
- 10. Due to allergies and sensitivities of co-workers and the public, employees shall refrain from wearing or using products containing fragrances.
- C. Prohibited Clothing The following clothing is not acceptable for employees at any time and shall not be worn except in the case of approved field/operational attire or as noted in the Exceptions section:
 - Leggings (except underneath an appropriate lower body garment such as skirts, shorts, or pants);

- Excessively short skirts and shorts; Bedroom slippers;
- Flip-flops; Sweat Pants;
- Wind Suits /Jogging Suits;
- Tank Tops, Halter Tops, Tube Tops; and
- Head gear worn indoors (hats, caps, headphones, bandannas, etc.)

D. Direct Service Delivery Assignments

Employees working in direct service delivery assignments, such as uniformed public safety positions, public works, inspections, or other operational field capacities may be issued workplace uniforms that shall be worn while performing official duties. The style and material of the uniforms shall be determined by the department. When uniforms are not issued, departments shall determine the appropriate attire for field or direct service delivery staff, taking into account the general guidelines of this policy.

Employees shall not post pictures showing themselves in uniform or links to such pictures on any non-County Internet website or electronic media not related directly to their specific job function.

E. BUSINESS CASUAL AND CASUAL DRESS

The County supports "business casual" dress Monday through Thursday for those employees working in an office environment. Business casual is a form of attire that is more traditional and typically includes slacks and shirts for men and slacks or skirts with blouses, and dresses for women. Directors and department heads retain the right to require more formal business-like attire (i.e., suit) based on the needs of the department or division. Business casual does not include blue jeans pants, t- shirts (only t-shirts adorned with approved Pittsylvania County emblem or logo may be worn), sweatshirts, or bib pants/overalls.

The County also supports "casual" dress on Fridays (or the last workday of a shortened workweek). Casual dress is a form of attire that is more relaxed and normally associated with leisure time. Casual dress typically includes less formal clothing such as blue jeans (with no holes, tears, or rips), sweatshirts, and t-shirts (only t-shirts adorned with approved Pittsylvania County emblem or logo may be worn).

F. Exceptions

Directors shall retain the right to consider unique situations and may approve alternate employee attire for a variety of reasons.

G. Consequences

Employees are expected to abide by the provisions of the dress code policy and shall be held accountable for decisions that do not meet the guidelines. When an employee's attire does not meet expectations, the immediate supervisor shall first discuss the matter with the employee to ensure that the employee understands the policy and its application. If Management finds that your personal appearance is inappropriate, you will be asked to leave work and return properly dressed and groomed. If you are asked to leave, you will not be paid for the time you are away from work. If the employee refuses to change his attire and/or fails to comply with the dress code, the supervisor may initiate disciplinary action in accordance with Pittsylvania County's disciplinary policy.

2.10 ANTI-NEPOTISM POLICY

Except as provided herein, no applicant shall be hired, reinstated, reemployed, transferred, promoted, or demoted to a position which places him or her in a direct supervisory role with a family member.

This prohibition may be extended to positions in which the duties involve access, review, verification, authorization, or approval of the transactions of family members in financial, personnel, purchasing, or other sensitive matters, even though the respective functions are in different departments. Such positions will be identified by the affected department head or designee, with the approval of the County Administrator.

For the purposes of this anti-nepotism policy, "family member" is defined as spouses, parents, in-laws, children, and siblings, including step-parents and siblings, half-siblings, and including grandparents and grandchildren, and aunts, uncles, nieces and nephews, and first cousins. Such relationships include those legalized by adoption.

If a change occurs which causes employees to come into conflict with this policy, one of the employees shall be transferred to a vacant position, if available. In the absence of an agreement, by the affected parties, the employee with the lower (pay) grade or if the same grade, the employee with the fewest years of County service, will be transferred.

The County Administrator may approve written requests to interpret or waive this policy, when it is in the best interest of the County to do so as provided by the Code of Virginia.

2.11 PRE-EMPLOYMENT RECRUITMENT AND APPLICATION PROCEDURES

The Human Resources Department develops, and maintains effective recruitment procedures that attract candidates who possess the education, skills, and abilities to meet the current and future needs of Pittsylvania County. When a position is to be filled from outside of the department, the department manager will notify the Human Resources Director of the need to advertise the position and seek qualified applicants for

employment. No person will be hired or promoted into a position unless that position is a funded vacant position as approved by the County Administrator.

Vacant positions may be filled by recruitment from inside and/or outside sources as determined appropriate in coordination with the selecting department manager or designee. Vacancies may also be advertised with the local Virginia Employment Commission, newspapers, electronic media, other government agencies, journals or other appropriate sources. All posted position vacancies can be viewed online at any time at http://www.pittsylvaniacountyva.gov/.

When a vacancy occurs, or the County Administrator approves a new position, normally, vacancies may be advertised concurrently internally, and externally and posted for a minimum of ten (10) days. Applications will be accepted only for posted positions. However, high turnover positions may remain continuously under recruitment in order to maintain pools of qualified candidates, and to quickly fill such positions as vacancies occur. Pittsylvania County supports cross training and promotion from within and when appropriate, internal applications will be considered first. If no internal application is selected to fill the position, outside applicants will be considered. Positions are posted on the bulletin board located in the County Administration Building.

Managers at each work site are responsible for posting notices of vacancy at their facility. In the interest of public welfare and safety, before an employment offer can be extended, an applicant must be able to perform the essential functions of the job with or without reasonable accommodations. Medical examinations may be required depending on the duties of the position. If an applicant is formally offered a position, the pre-hire process may also include examinations, such as reference checks, criminal history, child abuse registry, motor vehicle records check, alcohol and drug testing, skill testing, written examinations, personal interviews and other testing as determined appropriate and lawful. If other testing is determined to be appropriate, in such case, all applicants for that position will be administered the same test uniformly.

Some positions require the operation of Pittsylvania County owned motor vehicles as a function of the job. Employees must report any restrictions, limitations, or loss of their driving privileges to their supervisor as soon as the employee becomes aware. Applicants will be required to grant permission to Pittsylvania County management to conduct background investigations, and state criminal history checks not to violate any federal or state equal opportunity law or regulation. All applicants for Pittsylvania County employment will be informed of the Drug Free Work Place Policy, and will be required to undergo a drug screen upon offer of employment and prior to final appointment.

Due to the length of time required to complete certain background investigations, a conditional offer of employment may be extended, subject to the successful completion of the investigation. Pittsylvania County does not discriminate unlawfully against persons who have been convicted of criminal offenses. A prior conviction does not automatically exclude an applicant from employment with Pittsylvania County. The nature and the offense of a past conviction is weighed and considered in relation to the duties of the

vacant position. Department managers will review applicants for vacant positions in their department and will make recommendations for employment to the Human Resources Director. The Human Resources Director will review the department manager's decision, and check references on the selected applicant. The Human Resources Director will then present the information to the department manager for final approval.

2.12 IMMIGRATION LAW COMPLIANCE

Pittsylvania County complies with the Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986 and is committed to employing only United States citizens, and aliens who are authorized to work in the United States.

3. APPOINTMENTS

3.1 VACANCIES

All full-time and regular part-time vacancies to be filled shall be publicized. Human Resources shall maintain an advertising distribution list, which shall be used to maximize the application pool.

A. Employment Applications

- 1. Persons seeking to apply for employment with the County shall be referred to the Human Resources Department. The County relies upon the completeness and accuracy of information contained in the employment application, as well as the accuracy of other data presented throughout the selection process and during County employment. All employment information shall be current, accurate and complete.
- 2. Any misrepresentations, falsifications or material omissions on the County application may result in the County's exclusion of the individual from further consideration for employment.

4. CLASSIFICATION OF POSITIONS

4.1 CLASSIFICATION PLAN

The County Classification Plan ("Plan") has been established and shall be maintained by County Administration. No deviation shall be made from the Plan except where circumstances warrant. Under these circumstances, the Plan itself or the classification of a particular class or grade of positions may be amended with the approval of the County Administrator.

4.2 COVERAGE

The Plan shall cover all positions included under Section 1.2 of this Manual.

4.3 ASSIGNMENT OF POSITIONS

The County Administrator or his designee, in consultation with affected department heads, shall make all assignments of positions to pay grades and salary ranges. Positions, which are sufficiently alike in duties and/or responsibility, will be accorded the same pay grade. The County Administrator or his designee shall allocate each position covered by the Plan to its appropriate pay grade in coordination with Human Resources.

4.4 RECLASSIFICATION AND/OR GRADE CHANGES

Department heads shall be responsible for bringing to the attention of the County Administrator or his designee any material change in the nature of duties, responsibilities, working conditions, or other factors affecting the classification of any position. Following the receipt of such information, the County Administrator, in consultation with Human Resources, shall restudy the position and determine if the classification should be changed. No person shall be appointed, promoted, demoted, transferred, or paid in any position until the position has first been established and approved by the Board of Supervisors.

4.5 CLASSIFICATION OF NEW POSITIONS

The County Administrator or designee shall be responsible for the allocation of new positions to existing classifications and/or pay grades in County service.

4.6 CLASSIFICATION OF EMPLOYMENT

Introductory employees: Employees begin employment with the County as introductory employees. The introductory period is six (6) months of continuous uninterrupted service from the date of hire. Such employees' performances are evaluated during this time to determine whether further employment in a specific position or with the County is appropriate. After satisfactorily completing the introductory period, employees will receive a formal performance review completed by their supervisor.

<u>Full-time regular employees</u>: Employees hired to work the County's normal, full-time, 40 hour workweek on a regular basis. Such employees may be "exempt" or "nonexempt" as defined below. Full-time employees are eligible to participate in the benefits outlined in this manual provided they qualify for each individual benefit. Employees who are scheduled to work more than 40 hours per week on regular basis (fire/EMS) are also eligible to participate in the benefits.

<u>Part-time employees</u>: Employees hired to work 29 hours or less per week on a regular basis. Such employees may be "exempt" or "nonexempt" as defined below. Part-time employees are not eligible to participate in the benefits outlined in this manual; with the exception of the Employee Assistance Program as explained in Section 10.

<u>Temporary employees</u>: Employees engaged to work full-time or part-time with the understanding that their employment will be terminated no later than on completion of a specific assignment. Such employees may be "exempt" or "nonexempt as outlined below. Employees hired from temporary employment agencies for specific assignments are employees of the respective agency and not employees of the County. Temporary employees are not eligible for benefits.

In addition to being categorized as introductory, full-time, part-time, or temporary; employees will also be categorized as exempt or nonexempt.

<u>Nonexempt employees</u>: Employees who are required to be paid overtime at the rate of time and one half (i.e., one and one-half times) their regular rate of pay for all hours worked beyond 40 hours in a workweek, in accordance with applicable federal, wage and law hours. Holiday, vacation, sick, compensatory time, or personal hours are not factored in when calculating overtime.

<u>Exempt employees</u>: Employees who are not required to be paid overtime, in accordance with applicable federal wage and hour laws, for work performed beyond 40 hours in a workweek. Executives, professional employees, outside sales representatives, and certain employees in administrative positions are typically exempt.

You will be informed of your initial employment classification as an exempt or nonexempt employee during your orientation session. If you change positions during your employment as a result of a promotion, transfer, or otherwise, you will be informed by Management of any change in your exemption status.

Please direct any questions regarding your employment classification or exemption status to Management.

5. PAY OF EMPLOYEES

5.1 COMPENSATION AND CLASSIFICATION DEFINITIONS

- A. PAY PERIOD The County's regular pay period is semi-monthly. Normal pay days are the 15th of the month and the last working day of the month.
- B. FULL TIME Those employees who work (40) hours or more in a week and are eligible for all County benefits. Vacation leave benefits are available upon successful completion of the introductory period of six (6) months.
- C. PART TIME Those employees who work twenty-nine (29) hours or less per week are paid on an hourly basis and are not eligible for County benefits other than the Employee Assistance Program (EAP).

Upon successful completion of five (5) years of continuous service, parttime employees who work a minimum of 20 hours per week, earn 24 hours of personal leave. An employee must meet the 5 years of continuous service criteria, <u>and</u>, the minimum of 20 hours per week (1,040 hours per fiscal year), to earn the 24 hours of leave. An employee who meets the work criteria, but not the minimum of 20 hours per week criteria, is not eligible for the leave time. Personal leave hours must be used by June 30th each year. Unused personal leave hours do not carry over and are not eligible for pay-out.

Part-time employees who do not work a minimum of 20 hours per week are not eligible for 24 hours of personal leave.

Eligible Part-time employees will earn a new 24 hours of personal leave hours each July 1st, to be used by June 30th of the following year. Personal leave hours do not rollover if an employee transitions from part-time to full-time status.

- D. TEMPORARY Those employees engaged to work full-time or parttime with the understanding that their employment will be terminated no later than the completion of a specific assignment. Temporary employees are not eligible to participate in County benefits, other than the Employee Assistance Program (EAP). Seasonal employees are considered temporary.
- F. WORK DAY The normal work day in Pittsylvania County is eight (8) hours per day for most employees, depending on department and work situation.

The normal work day is 8:00 to 5:00 P.M., Monday through Friday, but the schedule may be adjusted by the Department Head with the approval of the County Administrator to establish a flexible work schedule for employees. Starting and stopping times and shift lengths may also vary in some departments, such as the Sheriff's Office and Public Safety, which operates with an independent work schedule consistent with the service needs of the County. Employees are expected to be at their work station and ready for work at the starting time, unless prior arrangements have been made. Hourly employees should report to work no more than six minutes prior to their scheduled starting time and stay no more than six minutes after their scheduled work day has ended unless otherwise approved by a supervisor. It is the employee's responsibility to adequately record their time worked. If corrections/modifications are made to the time record, both the employee and Management must verify the accuracy of the changes by initialing the time record.

It is a violation of County policy for any employee to record another employee's time, alter another employee's time sheet, or alter his/her own time sheet without permission.

The County Administrator reserves the right to adjust the number of hours worked for all employees in accordance with the provisions of the federal Fair Labor Standards Act.

- G. COMPENSATORY ("COMP") TIME Comp time is time off with pay in lieu of overtime pay for irregular or occasional overtime hours worked. Exempt status employees are not eligible to receive comp time.
 - H. LUNCH AND BREAKS Lunch times will vary from department to department, but normally are scheduled for one (1) hour and are unpaid. Morning and afternoon break periods of fifteen (15) minutes are provided to each employee and are paid.
 - I. EMERGENCY SERVICE Each County employee has a special responsibility to the citizens of Pittsylvania County. As part of this responsibility, service outside of the normal working hours may be required during a state of emergency. All County employees should be prepared to receive special assignments. When emergency service results in overtime work, employees will be compensated, in accordance with the overtime provisions.

5.2 PAY PLAN

For each pay grade, a salary range shall be assigned which includes a minimum, mid and maximum salary. Every position is assigned to a pay grade, with consideration given to factors including skill level, experience, level of work, physical demands and other pertinent factors. The County Administrator shall approve the appropriate pay grade for all new positions and positions that are approved for re-classification.

Periodically, the County Administrator may cause to be made a comprehensive review of all factors affecting employee compensation levels. The review, when undertaken, will consider rates of pay for comparable positions in the area, fringe benefits, general wage data, the County's financial condition, and other pertinent factors. Prior to implementing changes to employee pay or compensation package based on such review, approval of the Board of Supervisors is required.

5.3 NEW EMPLOYEES

Generally, a new employee shall be paid the minimum rate of pay for the position he was hired for. The minimum rate of pay for each pay grade is based upon the assumption that a new employee meets the minimum qualifications for the position he was hired for.

When a new employee more than meets the minimum qualifications for the assigned pay grade, he may be paid at a higher rate of pay than the minimum for that pay grade. New employees paid a rate higher than the minimum for the assigned pay grade, require approval by the County Administrator.

5.4 PROMOTIONS

When an employee is promoted to a position in a higher pay grade, his salary shall be increased to at least the minimum rate of the higher pay grade. In the cases of

overlapping ranges, the promoted employee shall be increased to a salary within the new pay grade which accurately reflects the increased responsibility of the position. Employees will be formally evaluated upon completion of six (6) months of service to determine if job performance and requirements are satisfied, and may be eligible for a merit increase

5.5 REHIRED / REINSTATED EMPLOYEES

An employee who voluntarily leaves the County in good standing shall be eligible for rehire, if the position is vacant. If an employee is rehired or reinstated within six (6) months, all pre-employment tests do not need to be performed again.

An employee who has voluntarily resigned from County employment, and is in good standing, and wishes to return within thirty (30) days of the separation, may be reinstated to their former position, if vacant. An employee who is reinstated may be eligible for accruals and seniority he had at the time of separation. The County Administrator reserves the right to determine who is rehired or reinstated

5.6 TRANSFERS TO ANOTHER POSITION AND/OR DEPARTMENT

The pay of an employee transferred to another position of the same pay grade shall remain unchanged. Leave accruals will continue at the current level. Years of service for full-time employees will be counted for the corresponding accrual category when transferring from an office/department that does not participate in the County accrual leave policy to another office/department that does participate.

5.7 DEMOTIONS

A voluntary or involuntary demotion is defined as assignment to a position with a decrease in duties and responsibilities and is distinguished from a downward reclassification resulting from a formal review of duties and responsibilities. An employee demoted from one position to another is placed in a lower pay grade contingent upon a lesser position being available at the time the action is taken. The department head may petition the County Administrator to adjust the amount of the salary reduction within the new pay grade.

5.8 OVERTIME COMPENSATION

It is the policy of the County to adopt and implement the provisions of the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA), as amended, as the fundamental wage and hour policy of the County. Further, it is the policy of the County that any overtime work necessary for the continued effective operation of the County shall be managed in the most efficient and economical manner possible.

If determined necessary, overtime work will be authorized by management beyond an employee's standard scheduled hours of work. Every attempt will be made to minimize

overtime work and supervisory approval is required to authorize any overtime. Non-exempt employees will be paid overtime compensation in accordance with federal and state wage and hour provisions. Overtime pay is based on actual hours worked. Non-exempt employees shall not perform job related work at home unless specifically authorized in advance by the employee's supervisor, and permission is granted from the respective department director. Any employee who fails to comply with any applicable provisions of this section, and any supervisor who permits the same shall be subject to disciplinary action.

All County Departments have established working hours as required by workload, production flow, service needs, and the efficient management of personal resources. In addition, to these established work hours, certain situations may arise requiring overtime work. As required by the Federal Fair Labor Standards Act ("FLSA") all positions in the County shall be designated as "exempt" or "non-exempt". Employees in exempt positions are not subject to the provisions of the FLSA.

The FLSA requires that non-exempt employees receive overtime compensation for hours worked in addition to specified limits. Law-enforcement, EMT's and fire protection employees' overtime hours are calculated in accordance with the Code of Virginia 9.1-703.

To the extent any provision in the Personnel Policies Manual would cause an exempt employee under the FLSA to lose their exempt status, such policy shall not apply.

It is the County's policy to comply with the salary basis requirements of the FLSA. Therefore, the County prohibits all department heads or their designees from making any improper deductions from the salaries of exempt employees that violate the FLSA.

5.9 EMERGENCY CALL BACK POLICY

Non-exempt employees, who are required to report to work under emergency circumstances ("called back") will be compensated for a minimum of three (3) hours. If the actual hours worked exceed the 3-hour minimum, the employee will be compensated for all hours worked. Call-back time will commence from the time the employee leaves his/her premises and returns to the original location. If the employee is called back while in route to or from work, time worked will be credited as an extension of the normal workday and the 3-hour minimum will not apply.

Should the employee be called back a second time within the original 3 hours of the first call, an additional 3-hour credit for the new call-back will not be granted. Calls received and time worked by an employee in a call-back situation must be reported to the employee's supervisor on the next regular workday. The nature and amount of time worked during on-call duty are subject to verification by supervisors. When discrepancies are noted, further justification may be required. Supervisors must establish what constitutes emergencies for their department.

Only non-exempt employees, who are not on-call, are eligible for emergency callback pay.

5.10 ON CALL POLICY

It is the policy of Pittsylvania County that departments that require non-exempt employees to be on-call, are required to develop a department on-call roster. Establishment of on-call rosters, and method of notification, are the responsibility of each respective department head. Employees who are assigned to on-call duty, are required to be available for work within a reasonable time. Pittsylvania County does not restrict employee movement while on-call. A reasonable response time shall be deemed within one (1) hour.

For each scheduled assignment of on-call duty, a non-exempt employee shall be paid for 1 hour at his/her regular hourly rate for each day of on-call duty, whether or not actually called for duty, in addition to being compensated for any time actually worked. Actual time worked over the employee's prescribed duty cycle while on-call will be subject to the overtime provisions herein.

Employees who are scheduled to be on-call for their department, are not eligible for emergency call-back pay.

5.11 DEDUCTIONS

As a condition of employment with Pittsylvania County, the employee must complete an application and participate in Direct Deposit.

Payroll is authorized to make established deductions from an employee's gross pay to cover taxes, mandatory deductions, and optional deductions elected by an employee.

If an employee believes that an improper deduction has been made to his salary, he should immediately report this to his supervisor and/or Payroll /Human Resources.

5.12 DEDUCTIONS UPON SEPARATION OF EMPLOYMENT

Upon separation of employment, Payroll shall deduct and withhold, consistent with federal, state or local laws, from the final pay check of any employee any amount owed to the County in payment for unearned leave, group insurance premium, unreturned property including keys, cell phones, credit cards, electronic devices, or any other indebtedness to the County. The final paycheck and payment for unused leave shall not be issued until the extent of any indebtedness to the County has been determined and cleared. If any indebtedness is determined after an employee has been separated from the County, and has received their final paycheck, Human Resources shall give proper notice to the person, informing such person of the indebtedness and requesting payment. If such correspondence is unsuccessful in clearing the indebtedness, legal action may be initiated at the direction of the County Administrator.

5.13 GARNISHMENT OF EMPLOYEE WAGES

Garnishments are court orders requiring an employer to withhold specified amounts from an employee's wage for payment of a debt owed by the employee to a third party. State law requires the County to honor garnishments of employee wages (including child support) as a court or other legal judgment may instruct. The law also provides for an administrative fee to be charged when a garnishment occurs.

Employees are expected to manage their personal financial affairs in such a manner as not to require debtors to seek garnishments or payroll liens for payment of bills and/or taxes owed by the employee.

6. EMPLOYEE LEAVE

6.1 ELIGIBILITY

The County recognizes that only permanent full-time employees are eligible to accrue leave benefits; including personal, vacation, and sick leave hours. Accruals are based on the total number of hours worked annually, which varies by department and position. Please reference the charts below.

Part-time employees are not eligible to accrue vacation or sick leave benefits; however, the County recognizes that part-time employees can earn 24 personal leave hours only after successful completion of five (5) years of service.

6.2 VACATION LEAVE

A. Each permanent full-time employee working 2,080 hours annually (Sheriff's office, and any employee working a normal 40-hour work week) shall accrue vacation hours at the following rates:

Years of Service Completed	Accrual Rate		
1-5 years of service	Four (4) hours of paid vacation, per completed pay period, with an annual accumulation of 96 hours. Vacation hours are available as they are accrued.		
5 years of service completed (60 months)	Five (5) hours of paid vacation per completed pay period.		
10 years of service completed (120 months)	Six (6) hours of paid vacation per completed pay period.		

15 years of service completed (180 months)	Seven (7) hours of paid vacation per completed pay period.
20 years of service completed (240 months)	Eight (8) hours of paid vacation per completed pay period.
25 years of service completed (300 months)	Nine (9) hours of paid vacation per completed pay period, with an annual accumulation of 216 hours.

B. Each permanent full-time employee working 2,920 hours annually (Firefighter/ EMT), shall accrue vacation leave at the following rates:

Years of Service Completed	Accrual Rate
1-5 years of service	Five and one-half (5.5) hours of paid vacation, per completed pay period, with an annual accumulation of 132 hours. Vacation hours are available as they are accrued.
5 years of service completed (60 months)	Seven (7) hours of paid vacation per completed pay period, with an annual accumulation of 168 hours.
10 years of service completed (120 months)	Eight and one-half (8.5) hours of paid vacation per completed pay period, with an annual accumulation of 204 hours.
15 years of service completed (180 months)	Ten (10) hours of paid vacation per completed pay period, with an annual accumulation of 240 hours.
20 years of service completed (240 months)	Eleven (11) hours of paid vacation per completed pay period, with an annual accumulation of 264 hours.
25 years of service completed (300 months)	Twelve and one-half (12.5) hours of paid vacation per completed pay period, with an annual accumulation of 300 hours.

C. Each permanent full-time employee working 2,366 hours annually (Firefighter/ EMT), shall accrue vacation hours at the following rates:

Years of Service Completed	Accrual Rate
1-5 years of service	Four and one-half (4.5) hours of paid vacation, per completed pay period, with an annual accumulation of 108 hours. Vacation hours are available as they are accrued.
5 years of service completed (60 months)	Five and one-half (5.5) hours of paid vacation per completed pay period, with an annual accumulation of 132 hours.
10 years of service completed (120 months)	Seven (7) hours of paid vacation per completed pay period, with an annual accumulation of 168 hours.
15 years of service completed (180 months)	Eight (8) hours of paid vacation per completed pay period, with an annual accumulation of 192 hours.
20 years of service completed (240 months)	Nine (9) hours of paid vacation per completed pay period, with an annual accumulation of 216 hours.
25 years of service completed (300 months)	Ten (10) hours of paid vacation per completed pay period, with an annual accumulation of 240 hours.

All full-time benefit eligible employees accrue vacation leave based on the annual number of hours worked, beginning the first month of employment. An employee may carry a specified amount of vacation leave earned from one year into the next year. However, no more than the below noted levels of accumulated vacation leave shall be allowed to be carried over from one year into the next. On the last day of the year, any accrued vacation leave in excess of the amounts noted below shall be forfeited. For the purpose of carry over, a year is defined as the period of time from July 1st through June 30th.

VACATION LEAVE CARRY OVER

Years of Service	Maximum Carry Over Hours	Upon Separation Maximum Hour Paid
1-5 years of service	192	192
5 years of service completed (60 months)	240	192
10 years of service completed (120 months)	288	192
15 years of service completed (180 months)	336	192
20 years of service completed (240 months)	384	192
25 years of service completed (300 months)	432	192
30 years of service completed (360 months)	480	240

Scheduled vacation leave shall be subject to the approval of the employee's supervisor. Vacation hours may be taken in quarterly or one-hour increments. Every effort will be made to grant employee vacation leave requests; however, in instances of concurrent requests for overlapping vacation dates, preference will be given to the request of the longer-term employee

If a holiday is observed during an employee's vacation leave, it is not counted as a vacation day.

6.3 SICK LEAVE

All full-time benefit eligible employees accrue sick leave based on the annual number of hours worked, beginning the first month of employment. Sick leave may only be used to cover any absence from work because of a personal illness, injury, or physical incapacity (other than incurred in the line of duty) that prevents the employee from performing his/her job or exposure to contagious disease, when the employee's presence on duty would jeopardize the health of fellow workers or the public.

SICK LEAVE ACCRUAL

- 1. Each permanent full-time employee working 2,080 hours annually (Sheriff's office, and any employee working a normal 40-hour work week) shall accrue four (4) hours of paid sick leave per completed pay period, with an annual accumulation of 96 hours.
- Each permanent full-time employee working 2,920 hours annually (Firefighter/EMT), shall accrue five and ½ (5.5) hours of paid sick leave per completed pay period, with an annual accumulation of 134 hours.
- 3. Each permanent full-time employee working 2,366 hours annually (Firefighter/EMT), shall accrue four and ½ (4.5) hours of paid sick leave per completed pay period, with an annual accumulation of 109 hours.

When an employee is absent for one of the above reasons, he shall inform his supervisor via telephone, at the earliest possible time, to assure full coverage of departmental work responsibilities.

If an employee is away from work for three (3) or more consecutive work days, the employee may be asked to provide a doctor's statement and may be asked to provide a written release from his physician to return to work. It is the employee's responsibility to keep his supervisor informed of his work status through regular contact.

An illness, injury, or medical condition that involves inpatient care in a hospital, hospice, or residential medical care facility, or an incapacity that lasts more than three (3) consecutive work days, may be considered a serious health condition and subject to the requirements of the Family Medical Leave Act. The County may also designate leave as FMLA leave without a request from the employee.

A request for extended sick leave use may require verification by the department head concerned and/or the Human Resources Director. Sufficient verification is a medical certification containing medical facts to establish an employee was unable by reason of the disability to be on duty during the entire period covered by the application, and where an extended absence is indicated, the probable duration of the disability.

The absence of an employee for the reasons stated shall be a charged against accrued sick leave:

- A. An illness, condition, or nonwork-related injury incapacitating the employee to perform his duties;
- B. An exposure to a contagious disease such that presence on duty would jeopardize the health of fellow employees or the public;

- C. Appointment for examination and treatment related to health when such appointment cannot reasonably be rescheduled during non-work hours; on the basis of the availability of local resources in the area of employment, the County Administrator may establish limits upon the charge of sick leave for keeping such appointments;
- D. Sick leave is also available when dependents/spouse requires the employee's assistance not to exceed three (3) days. In situations where the employee is required to care for a child, parent, or spouse and exceeds 3 days and the medical situation meets the definition of a serious medical condition, the absence may be considered a qualifying event under the Family and Medical Leave Act. Other legitimate causes which, at the discretion of the County Administrator and/or the Elected Constitutional Officer, may be classified as sick leave.

F. Final Sick Leave Settlement

VRS Plan 1 & 2 Employees and Hybrid Employees: Whenever possible, department heads shall budget when a retirement is foreseeable. Upon retirement with 10 or more years of service, an employee shall be paid his/her hourly rate, up to a maximum of \$1,250 for unused sick leave, or \$2,500 for 20 or more years of service.

F. Sick Leave Carry Over

- 1. VRS Plan 1 & 2 Employees: There is no limit on the number of accrued sick leave hours an employee can carry over from one year into the next. For purposes of carry over, one (1) year is defined as starting July 1st and ending June 30th.
- 2. Hybrid Employees: There is a cap of 720 hours of accrued sick leave that an employee can carry over from one year into the next. For purposes of carry over, one (1) year is defined as starting July 1st and ending June 30th.

6.4 BEREAVEMENT LEAVE

When there is a death in the employee's family, full-time employees are allowed to use bereavement leave in order to attend the funeral or memorial service of a family member, to experience the initial grieving process, and to take care of personal business specifically related to the death in the family. Full-time employees will be granted 24 hours of bereavement leave with supervisor approval. Bereavement leave hours does not accumulate from year to year and are not eligible for payout upon termination.

Extended leave may be granted at the supervisor's discretion if extenuating circumstances warrant (i.e., significant travel). The employee may use accrued sick, vacation, personal, or comp time leave to cover additional approved days out of the office for bereavement purposes.

For purpose of bereavement leave, employee's family is defined as parent/stepparent, child/stepchild, spouse, brother/stepbrother, sister/stepsister, grandparent, grandchildren, father-in-law, mother-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, aunt or uncle of employee or spouse, or any relative living in the household of the employee.

6.5 INJURY LEAVE

Injury leave may be granted during the seven (7) day Workers' Compensation waiting period disability requirement, because of an employee's incapacity to work as a result of an injury or illness that occurred during the course of an employee's job performance. Injury-leave during the first 7 days pays an employee his/her regular rate of pay.

Should leave extend beyond the 7-day period, the County will pay the employees regular salary, so that total payments will not exceed a period of 92 Calendar days. Such payments by the County will not be charged against the employee's sick leave or vacation leave accruals. The County will continue to maintain the employee's health and life insurance coverage.

If the absence continues beyond the 92 calendar day limit, employees will be required to use accumulated sick leave and vacation leave to continue receiving their full salary. Charges against balances will equal 1/3 of earned leave for workers' compensation.

If the Workers' Compensation carrier makes a determination an injury or illness is not job related, the absence will be charged 100% to sick leave. If sick leave is exhausted, the absence will be charged to vacation leave, and if necessary, leave without pay. The employee must pay for other benefits that are usually deducted from his or her salary.

Part-time employees will receive benefits according to the workers' compensation guidelines.

6.6 PERSONAL LEAVE HOURS

All permanent full-time employees are eligible for eight (8) hours of personal leave, per fiscal year. The personal leave hours may be taken, with supervisor approval, at the employee's discretion. Personal leave hours may not be used in increments. Personal leave hours are available at the commencement of a County fiscal year (July 1st) and must be taken prior to its termination (June 30th). Personal leave hours may not be accumulated from year to year, and are not eligible for pay out upon an employee's separation of employment.

6.7 INCLEMENT WEATHER

The purpose of this policy is to provide guidance to management and employees on handling inclement weather and emergency related operating and facility delays, closures, program postponements and cancellations, and associated employee leave from work.

POLICY

The County will attempt to keep offices and facilities open, continue to deliver services, and maintain programs as scheduled, unless severe weather or emergency conditions jeopardize the safety of County employees and citizens. The County will make appropriate emergency actions necessary to maintain the safety of the public and employees. The County may excuse some employees from duty, ask others to work their normal shifts, and call upon some employees to work extended hours in dealing with weather and emergency related conditions.

At the discretion of the County Administrator, or designee, offices and departments may be opened late, dismissed early, or closed due to inclement weather or an emergency event.

RESPONSIBILITY

Employees:

- Public Safety (police, fire, EMS), Building & Grounds and other essential personnel may be required to report to work, even when the County is officially closed, due to weather or other types of extraordinary circumstances. Essential personnel are key employees who work in departments that are required to be in full operation.
- Every employee is expected to report to work on time during hours established by the County Administrator and when reasonably safe to do so.
- If local weather conditions make it impossible to report to work on time, if at all, the
 employee is to notify his or her supervisor in the same manner as for any other
 tardiness or absence.
- If an employee does not report to work during hours established by the County Administrator, or designee, annual/vacation leave, compensatory time, or leave without pay must be used to cover the duration of the absence.
- In the event the County Administrator, or designee, decides to close due to inclement weather or emergency event, the hours closed will be assigned as hours worked.
- *Scenarios (assumes the employee work day is 8 hours and reports to work at 8am):
- 1. Employee reports to work at 8am. The County Administrator makes a decision to close at 12pm due to inclement weather.
 - 8am-12pm = 4 hours worked by employee
 - 1pm-5pm = Inclement weather hours to be paid as hours worked.

- Employee will be paid a total of 8 hours worked for the day.
- Part-time employees will be paid only for hours actually worked.
- 2. Employee does not feel safe driving to work due to inclement weather although County offices are open. The employee notifies his/her supervisor of the absence for the day per the policy. At 11am the County Administrator makes a decision to close due to inclement weather
 - Employee will be charged the number of hours he is schedule to work.
- 3. Employee is out of the office on an approved leave status (vacation, sick). There is an inclement weather event and the County Administrator makes a decision to close offices while the employee is out on an approved leave status.
 - Employee will remain on approved leave status and the employee's leave will not be offset by the amount of time County offices were closed.

Department Heads:

Department Heads are responsible for their department's inclement weather preparations, including maintenance of staffing necessary to keep essential operations running and continue at least minimal services to the public.

Department Heads may, in certain circumstances outside of normal business hours, exercise discretion when opening late, dismissing early or closing early due to weather or emergency conditions.

Departments Heads and supervisors are responsible for proper timekeeping associated with employee leave from work during all inclement weather and emergency events.

PROCEDURE

- 1. County Administrator, or designee, will determine if County offices will open late or close due to weather conditions.
 - a. If offices close during the course of normal business hours, County Administrator, or designee, will announce that the offices are closed via email.
 - b. If offices open late, a message will be sent to all County phones via the phone message system.
 - c. If offices close prior to the start of normal business hours, a message will be sent to all County phones via the phone message system.

- d. Employees that are not issued a county phone may register their personal cell phone number to receive notifications by emailing Daniel Kendrick at daniel.kendrick@pittgov.org, or by calling 434-432-7984.
- 2. Department Heads are responsible for ensuring that all staff are informed and aware of County office late openings or closures due to inclement weather conditions or emergency event.

6.8 COURT LEAVE

The employee shall be granted leave with full pay for absences necessary for serving on a jury, or attending court under subpoena. Employees are required to report to work if court duty ends within the assigned work hours. If an employee is unable to return to work after court duty within assigned work hours, the employee must request approval from his/her supervisor to use their available leave. Employees are required to submit proof of jury duty from the court along with timesheet to the payroll department.

Employees are expected to return to work at the conclusion of their service if the employee will be able to work for four (4) hours or more in that regular work day; provided, however, that no person who is summoned and appears for jury duty for four or more hours, including travel time, in one day shall be required to start any work shift that begins on or after 5:00 p.m. on the day of appearance for jury duty or begins before 3:00 a.m. on the day following the day of appearance for jury duty.

If an employee receives compensation for attending jury duty, they may keep it.

6.9 MILITARY LEAVE

A. Eligibility

Regular full-time employees, including those serving an introductory period, are eligible for military leave with or without pay. Under the Federal Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act of 1994 and Section 44-83 and 44-93 of the Code of Virginia, part-time employees are not eligible for military leave.

B. Military Leave With Pay

1. Employees who are former members of the armed services or members of the organized reserve forces of any of the armed services of the United States, National Guard, or naval militia shall be entitled to a military leave of absence, with pay, for the purpose of federally funded military duty to include training duty. This leave shall not exceed 21 consecutive calendar days for training duty and 5 working days for emergency active duty each federal fiscal year, October 1 – September 30.

- 2. FLSA non-exempt employees requiring more than 15 workdays shall be granted the time off for the performance of such duty. Such absences shall be without pay or, at the option of the employee, may be charged to annual or compensatory leave balances.
- 3. Employees who are called forth by the Governor pursuant to the Code of Virginia shall be entitled to leave with pay for the period of the ordered absence.
- 4. Employees returning from military leave with pay are required to return to work the first regularly scheduled workday after the end of duty, allowing reasonable travel time.

C. Military Leave Without Pay

- 1. Any eligible employee who leaves County service as a result of volunteering for active duty or being drafted into the armed services of the United States during time of war or other national emergency, as determined by the Board of Supervisors, or when reservists and National Guard members are voluntarily or involuntarily called to active duty shall be placed on military leave without pay commencing on the first business day following the last day of active employment with the County.
- 2. Leave shall only be granted for active military service for those dates stated on the employee's military orders.
- 3. Status of Benefits for Employees on Leave Without Pay for Active Military Service
 - a. Service Credit An employee on extended leave without pay due to active military service shall be treated as though he was continuously employed for purposes of determining benefits based on length of service, such as the annual leave accrual.
 - b. Compensatory Leave Any compensatory leave balance shall be paid at the time the employee is placed on military leave without pay.
 - 4. Reinstatement from Active Military Service
 - a. Conditions Upon satisfactory completion of active military service, the employee is entitled to reinstatement to his/her former position or to a position of like status and pay, provided that:

- (1) The employee makes application to the County Administrator not later than 90 days after the date of honorable discharge or separation under honorable conditions.
- (2) The employee presents a certificate showing satisfactory completion of military service.
- (3) The employee is still physically and mentally qualified to perform the duties of his/her position.
- b. The conditions stated above shall not apply when County circumstances have changed making it impossible or unreasonable to reinstate the employee. Reinstatement may not be possible when:
 - (1) The employee's former position has been abolished at the time of reinstatement: The employee may be placed in a position of comparable status and pay to the one previously held. Employees selected to fill vacancies created by persons on military leave may be employed on a temporary basis.
 - (2) Such a position is not available: The employee shall be considered affected by a reduction in force and the provisions of the County's Layoff Policy shall apply.

D. Employee Notification Requirements

- 1. Requests for Military Leave shall be made in writing and submitted with copies of the employee's official military orders to the department head. The employee shall notify his department head of the military obligation as far in advance as possible. A minimum of two weeks advance notice is required except for an emergency call-up. In the case of emergency call-up, the employee shall notify the department director as soon as possible.
- 2. The leave request and supporting military orders shall be forwarded to the County Administrator.

6.10 PERSONAL LEAVE OF ABSENCE

An unpaid personal leave of absence may be granted upon request to regular full- and part-time employees for important personal needs, at the discretion of the department head. Accepting employment elsewhere is not unpaid leave and constitutes a termination of employment at Pittsylvania County.

A. Provisions:

- 1. Unpaid personal leave may only be requested once all other appropriate leave balances have been exhausted.
- 2. No VRS service credit will be given to the employee during an unpaid personal leave of absence.
- A personal leave of absence may be granted for a period of one (1) calendar month or more by the department head and in consultation with the County Administrator and Human Resources.
- 4. Any employee returning from a personal leave of absence without pay during, or at the end of the period for which the leave was approved, shall be entitled to reinstatement. Failure to return at the end of the period for which leave was approved, shall be treated as a voluntary resignation of employment.
- 5. Employee health benefits will be continued in the same manner as received prior to the leave; however, the employee will be expected to remit payment for the employee's portion of the health insurance premium, if applicable, prior to departing for unpaid personal leave, and in an amount equivalent to the expected period of absence.
- 6. Unpaid personal leaves of absence are limited to one (1) per year.

B. Procedure for applying for unpaid personal leave:

- 1. Requests for unpaid personal leave must be made in writing to the employee's department head with a copy to the Human Resources Director, and should indicate the reason and the length of leave requested.
- 2. The department head shall review and act upon a request for unpaid personal leave in consideration of the following factors:
 - The purpose for which the leave is requested.
 - The length of time the employee will be away.
 - The effect the leave will have on the ability of the department to carry out its responsibilities.
 - The quality of the employee's performance prior to the submission of the request.
- 3. All unpaid personal leaves must be approved by the department head, County Administrator, and Human Resources Director.

C. Procedure for returning from unpaid personal leave:

- 1. An employee who has been granted an unpaid personal leave of absence shall give his or her department head reasonable notification of his or her intent to return to work at least two (2) weeks prior to the return date.
- 2. Upon receiving notification of the employee's availability, the supervisor or department head will arrange to have the employee resume his or her previous position.

3. Failure to return at the end of the period for which leave was approved, shall be treated as a voluntary resignation of employment.

6.11 ADMINISTRATIVE LEAVE

Administrative leave is assigned at the discretion of the County Administrator, Board of Supervisors, or Constitutional Officers when it is deemed to be in the best interest of the County or a department. Administrative leave may be with or without pay as approved by the County Administrator, Board of Supervisors, or Constitutional Officers.

If administrative leave is granted while employee is on any other prior approved leave status (e.g., vacation, sick, military, etc.), the administrative leave will begin after the approved leave is completed.

6.12 HOLIDAYS

Pittsylvania County will observe state holidays, Easter, and any other day so appointed by the Board of Supervisors or Governor for full-time employees. Holiday pay is included in all full-time employee's annual salary which allows employees to observe these holidays as they occur. For purposes of this policy, a "year" refers to a fiscal year (July 1 – June 30).

- A. Each permanent full-time employee working 2,080 hours annually, including Non-exempt Sworn Deputies and Dispatchers, shall earn eight (8) hours per holiday.
- B. Each permanent full-time employee working 2,920 hours annually (Firefighters, EMTs), shall earn eleven (11) hours per holiday.
- C. Each permanent full-time employee working 2,366 hours annually (Firefighters, EMTs), shall earn nine (9) hours per holiday.
 - Holidays will accrue in the month that it is observed.
 - Dispatchers, sworn deputies, and EMT/FF's are the only positions eligible to bank holiday hours, with supervisor approval.
 - Any holiday leave hours not used by June 30 will not be paid out and will be forfeited.
 - Holiday leave is not payable at the time of separation of employment.

6.13 CIVIC AND VOLUNTEER LEAVE

Pittsylvania County encourages its employees to become active in civic and volunteer activities. Full-time employees will be allowed up to one (1) hour of leave per month,

unless otherwise approved by the department head, to participate in civic engagement and volunteer activities (donating blood, voting), without having to use accrued vacation or sick leave. An absence lasting longer than 1 hour may be subject to accrued leave. Absence from work for civic and volunteer activities must have prior approval from the employee's department head.

6.14 FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE

Employees are entitled to participate in the benefits of the Family and Medical Leave Act ("FMLA"). FMLA leave may be unpaid leave.

A. Eligible Employees

To be covered under the FMLA, an employee must have worked for the County for twelve (12) months and must have worked at least 1,250 hours within the twelve (12) months preceding the start of the leave. Part-time and temporary employees who meet these requirements are eligible for FMLA leave.

B. Purposes for Which FMLA May Be Taken

- 1. To care for an employee's child after birth or for the placement with an employee of a child for adoption or foster care (provided that the leave is requested and used within twelve (12) months of the birth, placement, adoption or foster care);
- 2. To care for an employee's spouse, child or parent (does not include in-laws) who has a serious health condition; or,
- 3. When the employee is unable to work because of a serious health condition. A serious health condition is an illness, injury, impairment or physical or mental condition that involves inpatient care in a hospital, hospice or residential medical care facility, or an incapacity lasting more than three consecutive days, or involving continuing treatment by a health care provider. Continuing treatment involves two or more treatments (or one treatment when the condition is such that continuing follow-up is or will be required) by a healthcare provider, pregnancy, prenatal care or other chronic or long- term serious health conditions.

To qualify for leave due to the serious health condition of a family member, the family member must be incapable of self-care. To qualify for leave due to the serious health condition of the employee, the employee must be unable to work at all or unable to perform any of the essential functions of the employee's position.

Employees are required to obtain a health care provider certification for all absences for which FMLA leave is being requested. A chronic or long-term health condition or pregnancy does not require a visit to the health care provider for each absence; however,

a statement by the health care provider that the absence was due to the chronic condition or pregnancy may be requested by the County at its discretion.

FMLA Leave for Spouses employed by the County

- 1. In any case in which a husband and wife are both entitled to leave, the combined total number of workweeks of leave both may take is limited to 12 workweeks during a 12-month period, if such leave is taken for the birth or placement of a new child or to care for a sick parent.
- 2. The combined total number of workweeks of leave that a husband and wife may take is limited to 26 workweeks during the single 12-month period if the leave is to care for a service member or is a combination of caring for a service member and for the birth or placement of a new child or to care for a sick parent.

C. FMLA Benefits

An eligible employee is entitled to twelve weeks of unpaid leave during a twelve-month period. The twelve-month period is calculated on a rolling 12-month period starting with once eligible with twelve (12) months, and 1,250 hours of employment at the onset of the condition. Employees will be required to use accumulated paid leave (sick, compensatory, annual, etc.) on an hour for hour basis concurrent with the FMLA leave. If FMLA leave is exhausted before the end of the twelve-month period, the employee will not be entitled to further FMLA leave during this period.

Employees with military family members shall be eligible for leave entitlements for eligible specified family members:

- 1. Up to 12 weeks of leave for certain qualifying exigencies arising out of a covered military member's active-duty status, or notification of an impending call or order to active-duty status, in support of a contingency operation, and
- 2. Up to 26 weeks of leave in a single 12-month period to care for a covered service member recovering from a serious injury or illness incurred in the line of duty on active duty.

Eligible employees are entitled to a combined total of up to 26 weeks of all types of FMLA leave during the single 12-month period.

Initiating a Request for FMLA Leave

As soon as an employee is aware of the possibility of an FMLA leave request, the matter should be discussed with the employee's supervisor, who will provide the employee with the necessary paperwork to be completed by the employee and/or the employee's health care provider. If the employee provides sufficient notice of the need for leave, the County may conditionally designate the leave as FMLA-qualifying pending the receipt of a

Certification from the employee's health care provider. The final determination as to the request for leave will be made upon receipt of the Certification. FMLA leave taken for a serious health condition of the employee or family member may be taken intermittently or on a reduced-hours basis.

FMLA leave taken for birth, adoption, placement or foster care cannot be taken intermittently unless approved in advance. FMLA leave taken for the birth, adoption, placement or foster care of a child must be taken within twelve months following the event.

Should the County obtain information that the employee was not FMLA eligible or the event did not qualify under FMLA, the designation of FMLA leave, previously given, may be withdrawn.

Airline Flight Crew Employees (Informational Purposes Only). See link below. https://www.dol.gov/whd/regs/compliance/whdfs28j.pdf

The County Administrator or Constitutional Officer shall have discretionary authority to administer leave for eligible employees who exhaust FMLA leave benefits, and may need additional leave beyond the FMLA twelve (12)-week entitlement period.

Medical Certification

- 1. All employees who are taking FMLA leave are required to submit an appropriate Certification form, which is available from Human Resources.
- 2. The Certification must be returned within 15 days. Failure to return the Certification in a timely fashion may result in the delay or denial of the leave.
- 3. Employees may be required to re-certify from time to time such as when the employee requests or requires an extension of the leave, if the circumstances of the leave change, or for other justifiable reasons.
- 4. The County reserves the right to require at County expense a second Certification. If the first and second Certifications differ, the County may require a third Certification at County expense, which will be controlling.

D. Job Restoration

Upon return from FMLA leave, an employee is entitled to be restored to the same position that was held before the start of the FMLA leave, or to an equivalent position with equivalent benefits, pay, and other terms and conditions of employment. If an employee is unable to return to work after the FMLA leave benefits have been exhausted, the County Administrator or Constitutional Officer shall have discretionary authority in regarding to an employee's return to work status.

Key employees are entitled to FMLA leave but are not entitled to job restoration if reemployment after the conclusion of the leave will cause a substantial and grievous economic injury to the County. A key employee is defined by the Department of Labor – when under limited circumstances where restoration to employment will cause "substantial and grievous economic injury" to its operations, an employer may refuse to reinstate certain highly-paid, salaried "key" employees. A key employee must be among the highest paid 10 percent of all the employees. A key employee will be notified in writing of his/her status in response to the employee's notice of intent to take FMLA leave, unless circumstances do not permit such notice. If a key employee is already on FMLA leave when s/he receives notice that s/he is a key employee, the employee will be given a reasonable time to return to work before losing the right to job restoration.

E. Health Benefits

If paid leave is used for FMLA purposes, an employee will maintain the same benefits as if working. If the employee is on leave with or without pay, continuation in the health care plan is permitted, provided that the employee continues to pay for his/her share of premiums. If the employee fails to make his/her premium payments, the employee will be provided written notice of this failure and will be given an additional fifteen (15) days to make payment in full. If payment is not made after this notice, health benefit coverage will cease.

If an employee is unable to return to work at the conclusion of the 12 weeks, the employee must request in writing, to the County Administrator or Constitutional Officer, an extension of leave. The employee must also provide medical certification for the extension of leave. COBRA options will be discussed with the employee in order to continue health insurance coverage.

If an employee does not return to work after the conclusion of the FMLA leave, the employee is responsible for reimbursing the County for the County's share of the health care premiums paid.

Vacation and sick leave will not accrue during any FMLA unpaid leave. Pay for holidays, jury duty or bereavement will not be granted unless the employee meets the condition of the applicable policies to be paid.

F. Paid and Unpaid FMLA Leave

The County will require the use of all accrued but unused paid leave (vacation, sick leave, personal leave, if applicable to the case, etc.) prior to any unpaid leave. The FMLA leave time frame will not be increased by the length of any paid leave (paid leave and unpaid FMLA leave cannot be stacked to increase leave time; instead, such leave must run concurrently). Any paid sick or other leave due to a serious health condition will be designated as FMLA leave and will be counted against the employee's annual FMLA entitlement. In addition, any workers' compensation or other disability leave resulting from a serious health condition will be designated as FMLA leave. In other words, all

FMLA-qualifying paid leave will be designated as FMLA leave and count against an employee's entitlement.

Return to Work

- 1. All employees on FMLA leave must notify his/her immediate supervisor at least 4 days prior to returning to work
- 2. Employees who are on FMLA leave for their own serious health condition must submit a fitness for duty report to his/her supervisor before returning to work.
- 3. Upon return from an approved FMLA leave, an employee will be restored to his or her original or an equivalent position with equivalent pay and benefits
- 4. Certain "key employees" may be denied job restoration at the conclusion of the leave.
- 5. Failure of an employee to return to work after the exhaustion of leave will be addressed in accordance with the County's attendance policies

7. SEPARATIONS AND DISCIPLINE

7.1 VOLUNTARY SEPARATIONS - RESIGNATION

An employee may leave County service voluntarily by resignation. An employee will state his reasons for resigning in writing to his department head. To resign in good standing, an employee must:

- A. Non-department heads: Give at least two (2) weeks advance notice in writing.
- B. Department heads: Give at least 30 days advance notice in writing.

If special circumstances exist, the notice requirement may be waived by the County Administrator. If the County Administrator finds that a reported resignation was not voluntary, he shall treat the separation as a removal under these rules. If an employee fails to work an agreed upon resignation notice, the department head may withhold accrued vacation proportionate to the days of notice the employee fails to work.

7.2 LAYOFF

The County reserves the right to lay off employees for lack of available work or funds. The order of layoff is hereby declared to be as follows:

- A. The order of the layoff shall be based on the relative value of the employees to the County as determined by the Board of Supervisors on the recommendation of the County Administrator. Constitutional Officers have sole authority to determine order of layoffs for their office.
- B. No permanent employee shall be laid off from any position while any temporary employee continues in that capacity.
- C. Each employee laid off shall be given a written notice. Whenever practicable, this notice should be given at least 14 days prior to the effective date and should include reasons for the layoff, the effective date, and any other information deemed necessary by the County Administrator.

7.3 RETIREMENT

When an employee-initiated retirement is undertaken, the employee should notify the department head and payroll as far in advance as possible with a minimum 60-90-day notice provision suggested.

When an employee subject to the provisions of the Retirement Plan in effect has become physically or mentally incapable of performing the duties of his position satisfactorily, or has reached an age at which retirement is mandatory, it shall be the duty of the appointing authority to recommend his retirement, or in cases in which retirement is not mandatory, his demotion or transfer to any position for which he is eligible, the duties of which he is capable of performing satisfactorily. Effective October 1, 2017 all current retirees under age 65, enrolled in the group health plan, will be removed from the County's group health plan once Medicare eligible.

7.4 PROGRESSIVE DISCIPLINE POLICY

A. Purpose

Pittsylvania County's progressive discipline policy and procedures are designed to provide a structured corrective action process to improve and prevent a recurrence of undesirable employee behavior and performance issues.

Outlined below are the steps of Pittsylvania County's progressive discipline policy and procedures. Pittsylvania County reserves the right to combine or skip steps depending on the facts of each situation and the nature of the offense. Some of the factors that will be considered are whether the offense is repeated despite coaching, counseling or training; the employee's work record; and the impact the conduct and performance issues have on the organization.

Nothing in this policy provides any contractual rights regarding employee discipline or counseling, nor should anything in this policy be read or construed as modifying or altering the employment-at-will relationship between Pittsylvania County and its employees.

B. Procedure

Step 1: Counseling and verbal warning

This first step creates an opportunity for the immediate supervisor to bring attention to the existing performance, conduct or attendance issue. The supervisor should discuss with the employee the nature of the problem or the violation of company policies and procedures. The supervisor is expected to clearly describe expectations and steps the employee must take to improve his or her performance or resolve the problem.

Within five business days, the supervisor will prepare written documentation of the verbal counseling. The employee will be asked to sign this document to demonstrate his or her understanding of the issues and the corrective action.

Step 2: Written warning

A written warning involves more-formal documentation of the performance, conduct or attendance issues and consequences.

During Step 2, the immediate supervisor or department head will meet with the employee to review any additional incidents or information about the performance, conduct or attendance issues, as well as any prior relevant corrective action plans. Management will outline the consequences for the employee of his or her continued failure to meet performance or conduct expectations.

A formal performance improvement plan requiring the employee's immediate and sustained corrective action may be issued by the supervisor at this step. The written warning may also include a statement indicating that the employee may be subject to additional discipline, up to and including termination, if immediate and sustained corrective action is not taken.

Step 3: Final written warning

A final written warning will be issued when an employee fails to meet performance, conduct or attendance expectations as discussed and outlined in Steps 1 and 2. The final written warning will include a statement indicating that the employee may be subject to termination if immediate and sustained corrective action is not taken.

Step 4: Recommendation for termination of employment

The last and most serious step in the progressive discipline process is a recommendation to terminate employment. Generally, Pittsylvania County will try to exercise the progressive nature of this policy by first providing warnings, issuing a final written warning or suspending the employee from the workplace before proceeding to a recommendation to terminate employment. However, Pittsylvania County reserves the right to combine and skip steps depending on the circumstances of each situation and the nature of the

offense. Furthermore, employees may be terminated without prior notice or disciplinary action.

Management's recommendation to terminate employment must be approved by the County Administrator or designee in consultation with HR.

C. Documentation

The employee will be provided copies of all progressive discipline documentation, including all performance improvement plans. The employee will be asked to sign copies of this documentation attesting to his or her receipt and understanding of the corrective action outlined in these documents. Copies of these documents will be placed in the employee's official personnel file.

D. Suspensions

Some performance, conduct or safety incidents are so problematic and harmful that the most effective action may be the temporary removal of the employee from the workplace. When immediate action is necessary to ensure the safety of the employee or others, the immediate supervisor may suspend the employee pending the results of an investigation.

The appointing authority may suspend without pay, for a period not exceeding 30 days, or reprimand, or apply other less drastic disciplinary measures, to an employee for any violation of the rules outlined in Section 7.6, or for insubordination or willful neglect of duty. Nonexempt/hourly employees may not substitute or use an accrued paid vacation or sick day in lieu of the unpaid suspension. In compliance with the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA), unpaid suspension of salaried/exempt employees is reserved for serious workplace safety or conduct issues. HR will provide guidance to ensure that the discipline is administered without jeopardizing the FLSA exemption status.

When a suspension is affected pending completion of an investigation or court action for alleged violation of rules or statutes, the limitation of thirty (30) days shall not apply.

Pay may be restored to the employee if an investigation of the incident or infraction absolves the employee of wrongdoing.

Suspensions that are recommended as part of the normal sequence of the progressive discipline policy and procedures are subject to approval from the department head and County Administrator in consultation with HR.

E. Demotions

Demotions may be necessary in a situation where an employee whose work has not been satisfactory, but whose dismissal does not appear warranted, may be retained and

assigned less difficult work. However, a demotion shall never be used as a form of disciplinary action when the demotion will result in the displacement, or may result in the displacement, of another employee. Therefore, demotion as a form of disciplinary action shall only be available when there is an existing vacancy in a lower-level position for which the employee being disciplined is qualified. In the event that a demotion is appropriate, the department head shall notify the employee of his/her decision of demotion and the cause. All documentation, including any disciplinary action or correction action, as well as written notice of the demotion to the employee, is to be sent to HR and will be placed in the employee's official personnel file.

F. Performance and Conduct Issues Not Subject to Progressive Discipline

Behavior that is illegal is not subject to progressive discipline and may result in immediate termination. Such behavior may be reported to local law enforcement authorities.

Similarly, theft, substance abuse, intoxication, fighting and other acts of violence at work are also not subject to progressive discipline and may be grounds for immediate termination.

G. Investigations

Upon receiving a report of a violation of the law, or a violation of a department or disciplinary regulation as set forth in Section 7.6, from an official or an employee of the County, or from any citizen, the department head or County Administrator will consult with HR and investigate. The investigation will be made for the purpose of ascertaining the true facts relative to the circumstances surrounding the alleged offense.

7.5 EMPLOYEE TERMINATION PROTOCOL AND COUNTY OWNED PROPERTY UPON TERMINATION

- A. Prior to involuntary termination of employment, the department head, in consultation with the County Administrator and human resources, will assess the employee's potential demeanor in deciding how and when to terminate said employee. This assessment will determine whether the act of termination has the potential to subject other employees or bystanders to physical or verbal abuse or other disruptions in the workplace.
- B. In the event there is a potential for disruption, the Sheriff's Office will be contacted. A determination will be made as to whether or not law enforcement personnel will be present or on standby at a nearby location.
- C. Items including identification badge, keys to County property, uniforms, and other County property will be collected at the time of separation. County property not returned will be handled on a case-by-case basis and may include legal action if

- necessary. Access to computer systems and email will be disabled at the time of involuntary separation.
- D. No County employee shall be able to purchase County-issued property used in the performance of their County work, employment, service, or duties upon separation, resignation, or retirement from the County. This policy shall not apply to the right of Sheriff Department employees to purchase their County-issued service handgun for \$10.00 upon separation from County employment or retirement, as authorized by § 59.1-148.3, Code of Virginia, 1950, as amended.

7.6 CAUSES FOR SUSPENSION, DEMOTION OR DISMISSAL

County employees are expected to conduct themselves in a professional, and courteous manner, as representatives of the County. Employees are expected to avoid any action which may result in giving preferential treatment to any organization or person, losing independence or impartiality of action, or adversely affecting the integrity of the County.

If an employee's work performance is deemed unsatisfactory, he or she may be suspended, demoted, or dismissed. Additionally, other types of discipline, such as verbal or written reprimands, may be used at the supervisor's discretion as outlined in Section 7.4 Progressive Discipline Policy.

The following are examples of situations and misconduct that may result in discipline. The list is not inclusive and other misconduct may be subject to disciplinary action:

- A. Conviction of a felony or of a misdemeanor involving moral turpitude and other criminal acts such that continued performance of duties is compromised;
- B. Membership in a subversive organization that knowingly or willfully violates the laws of the United States, the Commonwealth of Virginia, and the ordinances of any city, county, or municipality of the Commonwealth, or any departmental rules and regulations;
- C. Willful, wanton, unreasonable, unnecessary, or culpably negligent brutality or cruelty to an inmate, or prisoner of a county institution or to a person in custody, provided the act committed was not necessarily or lawfully done in self-defense, or to protect the lives of others or to prevent the escape of a person lawfully in custody;
 - D. Violation of any of the provisions or regulations of this Manual;
- E. Offensive conduct or language in public or toward the public, county officials, or fellow employees, either on or off duty;
- F. Violating any lawful official regulation or order, insubordination, or failing to obey any proper direction made and given by a superior.

- G. Using or being impaired by intoxicants while on duty, or otherwise violating the County's Drug-Free Workplace policy.
- H. Becoming afflicted with any disease or having any physical or mental ailment or defect which, in the opinion of the County Administrator and the department head after confirmation by a physician, renders the employee unfit for employment. However, any such actions shall be taken in a manner that complies with the requirements of the applicable federal, state or local law;
- I. Being incompetent or inefficient in the performance of the duties of his position;
- J. Being careless or negligent with the monies or other property of the County or taking any property of the county for personal use or for sale or gift to others;
- K. Using, or threatening to use, or attempting to use personal or political influence in securing promotion, leave of absence, transfer, change of pay rate, or in any manner related to work;
- L. Inducing, or attempting to induce, an officer or employee in the service of the county to committing an unlawful act or to act in violation of any lawful or official regulation or order;
- M. Taking for personal use from any person any fee, gift, or other valuable thing in the course of work or in connection with it, when such gift or other valuable thing is given in the hope or expectation of receiving a favor or better treatment than that accorded other persons, or accepting any bribe, gift, token, monies, or other official acts, or engaging in any action of extortion or other means of obtaining money or other things of value through the employee's position in the County;
- N. Divulging or discussing any County business not having previously been made public or disclosing confidential information to any person unless directed to do so by his department head, or granting interviews or making public speeches concerning information not previously made public;
- O. Willfully falsifying County records (including time records, leave records, job applications, or pay or reimbursement vouchers);
 - P. Violating any workplace rule;
- Q. Engaging in any action of extortion or other means of obtaining money or other things of value through the employee's position in the County; and

R. Unsatisfactory attendance, excessive absences, or excessive tardiness.

7.7 LAYOFF

The County reserves the right to lay off employees for lack of available work or funds. The order of layoff is hereby declared to be as follows:

- A. The order of the layoff shall be based on the relative value of the employees to the County as determined by the Board of Supervisors on the recommendation of the County Administrator. Constitutional Officers have sole authority to determine order of layoffs in their Office.
- B. No permanent employee shall be laid off from any position while any temporary employee continues in that capacity.
- C. Each employee laid off shall be given a written notice. Whenever practicable, this notice should be given at least 14 days prior to the effective date and should include reasons for the layoff, the effective date, and any other information deemed necessary by the County Administrator.

7.8 EXIT INTERVIEW AND RE-EMPLOYMENT

Upon departure of a County employee from County service, an exit interview of the separating employee may be completed between the departing employee and the Human Resources Director or designee.

During the exit interview, the employee may give his reason(s) for leaving County employment and be informed about re-employment opportunities, reinstatement privileges, and retirement benefits, if applicable. The informational session is not intended as a counseling or grievance interview. The information gained from the employee's viewpoint on subjects such as pay, benefits, training, and working conditions provides important feedback, which ultimately can result in more satisfying employment for other personnel.

If, for some reason, an employee voluntarily separates from County service and later decides he would like to rejoin the County, he may be considered for re-employment. Re-employment possibilities depend upon the individual's past record of performance, current position vacancies, and the recommendations of the previous immediate supervisor and department director. Consideration for interview and/or re-employment is at the discretion of the department head.

8. EMPLOYEE SUMMARY OF BENEFITS

The County offers a comprehensive benefits package. Benefits and employee eligibility include:

BENEFIT	FULL TIME	PART TIME	WHO PAYS?	WHEN ELIGIBLE	WHAT YOU RECEIVE
Vacation Leave	X		Pittsylvania County	After six (6) months of continuous service	Employee may begin using accrued vacation leave hours. Employee may not use leave in excess of what is accrued.
Sick Leave	X		Pittsylvania County	Date of Hire	Employee may begin using accrued sick leave hours. Employee may not use sick leave in excess of what is accrued.
Personal Leave Hours	Х		Pittsylvania County	Date of Hire	Employee may use 8 personal leave hours per fiscal year.
Court Leave and Military Leave	Х		Pittsylvania County	Date of Hire	See Court leave and Military leave policies for details.
Family Medical Leave (FMLA)	Х	X (Those who meet eligibility require- ments.)		After 12 months of continuous service and 1,250 hours worked	Up to 12 weeks paid/unpaid leave during 12-month period
Employee Assistance Program Pittsylvania County, Virginia: Pers	X	Х	Pittsylvania County	Date of Hire	Confidential assistance with family, work and life situations.

Pittsylvania County, Virginia: Personnel Policies Manual (2737514-1, 122003-00001-01)

				Program administered through Anthem
Medical Insurance	Х	Cost sharing between Pittsylvania County and Employee	First of the month following date of hire	Voluntary participation in County's Group health insurance plan through payroll deduction
Dental Insurance	Х	Cost sharing between Pittsylvania County and Employee	First of the month following date of hire	Voluntary participation in County's dental insurance plan through payroll deduction
Voluntary Benefits	Х	Employee	First of the month following date of hire	Voluntary participation in Section 125 benefits.
Virginia Retirement System (VRS)	Х	Pittsylvania County and Employee	Per VRS Business Rules	Employee contributes mandatory 5% per month.
Life Insurance	Х	Pittsylvania County	Date of Hire	Benefit value is double the employee's annual salary.
Optional Life Insurance	Х	Employee	Date of Hire	Benefit options available for spouse, employee and children.
Education Reimbursement	Х	Pittsylvania County and Employee PC & E	Upon completion of 12 months of continuous	Reimbursement up to \$1,600 per fiscal year, per budget approval. See

	service and satisfactory	Education Reimbursement
	performance	policy for details.
		uetalis.

IN-SERVICE ACTIVITIES

9.1 JOB RELATED TRAINING

The Human Resources Director and/or individual department heads shall be responsible for developing job-related in-service training programs for employees of the County and for investigating outside training programs. All training programs that have associated costs, must be approved by the department head and / or County Administrator or designee.

10. EDUCTIONAL BENEFITS (PER BUDGET APPROVAL)

All active full-time employees of Pittsylvania County may request educational benefits when an employee elects to further his/her education at an accredited institution. Educational benefits include college level courses, certification programs, and other educational courses as approved by the employee's department head.

The employee must be employed a minimum of one (1) year with satisfactory performance to be eligible. Pittsylvania County will reimburse up to \$1,600 within the fiscal year, not to exceed \$1,600. Consideration will be given for specific coursework directly related to the employee's position, which will improve their knowledge and skills, and will increase their job performance. Reimbursement will be based on budget availability, and approval, provided that the employee successfully completes the coursework with a grade of C or better.

To apply for educational benefits, the employee must get approval from their department head on any courses being considered for reimbursement, and meet one of the following criteria:

- 1. Courses will enable the employee to assume and perform more difficult responsibilities and tasks;
- 2. Courses will improve the quality of the employee's work and bring additional skills to the job; or
- 3. Courses will enhance the employee's opportunity for promotion to a higher classified position within the employee's related field.

Once courses are approved, the employee will complete a Tuition Reimbursement Application and submit to the department head for signature. The employee will then submit the Application, proof of coursework completion and grade attained to Human Resources to confirm eligibility requirements are met, before reimbursement is authorized. Requests will be reviewed and approved on a first-come, first-served basis.

An employee agrees to repay the educational assistance received by continuing employment with the County for a minimum of one (1) year after all coursework is completed. If the employee's employment is terminated for any reason before completing the minimum period of service, the employee agrees to repay, on a pro-rated basis, the dollar amount not repaid by service. For example, if the employee leaves after six (6) months, 50% of the educational assistance received will be refunded by the employee to Pittsylvania County.

11. EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM POLICY STATEMENT

The Employee Assistance Program (EAP) is administered by the County Administrator, and managed by the Human Resources Director through an EAP agreement. The EAP is operated both as a personal management function and as an employee benefit. Participation in the program is through referral by an employee's supervisor or County Administrator when job performance has declined or through self-referral when an employee feels personal problems may interfere or are interfering with job performance.

The overall objective of the EAP is to reduce problems in the work force and to retain valued employees. Administration recognizes that problems of a personal nature can have an adverse effect on an employee's job performance. It is also recognized that most personal problems can be dealt with successfully when identified early and referred to appropriate care. The purpose of the EAP is to provide these services through special arrangements with an outside counseling resource. The program is designed to deal with the broad range of human problems such as emotional, behavioral, family and marital, alcohol and/or drug, financial, legal, and other personal problems. The program will provide problem assessment, treatment planning and referral. Costs for these services are covered by the employer. If costs are incurred for other services that are not covered by insurance or other benefits, those costs will be the responsibility of the employee.

The guidelines for use of the EAP are:

- A. Management is concerned with an employee's personal problems, how they affect him as a person, as well as how the employee's well-being influences work performance.
 - B. The program applies to all employees and their families.
- C. The program is available to all employees and their families as specified in the EAP agreement on a self-referral basis since problems at home

can affect the job. If eligible employees or family members have personal problems that may benefit from assistance, they are encouraged to use the program.

- D. Participation in the program will not jeopardize an employee's job security, promotional opportunities, or reputation. EAP participation will not immunize an employee against discipline for an infraction of work rules or the rules of conduct.
- E. All records and discussions will be handled in a confidential manner as with other medical records. These records will be kept by the designated counseling resource and will not become part of the employee's personnel file, except as set forth herein and in situations of dangerousness or as otherwise required by law, no information, oral or written, will be disclosed without the express written permission of the employee. If an employee is referred by the County to the EAP because of performance-related issues, the only information the EAP will disclose to the referring person is whether the employee has followed through.
- F. When network related performance problems are not corrected with normal supervisory attention, employees will be encouraged to seek assistance to determine if personal problems are causing unsatisfactory performance. If performance problems persist, the employee will be subject to normal corrective procedures.
- G. It is the responsibility of all levels of management to utilize this program when appropriate to assist in resolving job performance problems resulting from personal problems. Early recognition of the troubled employee through application of job performance standards is a proper function of management.
- H. Sick leave may be granted for treatment of rehabilitation on the same basis as is granted for other health problems. Consideration will also be given for the use of annual leave, leave without pay if sick leave is not available, and disability policies.
- I. The EAP does not alter or replace existing County policy or contractual agreements but serves to assist in their utilization.
- J. In the case of a job-performance-related referral, the supervisor will do all of the following:
- Consult with Human Resources.
- Document, as part of a performance improvement plan, that the employee was made aware of the EAP as a resource.

- Notify the EAP that a referral has been made.
- Complete an EAP referral form in order to provide relevant documentation of the performance problem to the EAP.

The County may mandate that an employee who is the victim of violence attend an EAP program before returning to work. Any employee with knowledge of any violation of this policy should report to his or her supervisor without delay.

12. DRUG AND ALCOHOL-FREE WORKPLACE

12.1 PURPOSE

The County is committed to protecting the safety, health and well-being of all employees and other individuals in our workplace. We recognize that alcohol abuse and drug use pose a significant threat to our goals. We have established a drug and alcohol-free workplace program that balances our respect for individuals with the need to maintain a drug and alcohol-free environment. The County prohibits the use or possession of alcohol and illegal drugs on County property. The County encourages employees to voluntarily seek help with drug and alcohol problems. To further support this program, alcohol and illegal drugs are not permitted on County property.

12.2 COVERED WORKERS

Our policy includes, but is not limited to executive management, managers, supervisors, full-time employees, part-time employees (minors and interns working short term assignments may be exempted from pre-employment screening but otherwise bound by the terms and expectations of this policy), off-site employees, and applicants offered conditional employment and are thus covered by our drug and alcohol-free workforce policy.

12.3 APPLICABILITY

Our drug and alcohol-free workplace policy is intended to apply whenever anyone is representing or conducting business for the County. Therefore, this policy applies during all working hours, whenever conducting business or representing the County regardless of your location, while on call, paid standby, while on County property and at County-sponsored events.

12.4 PROHIBITED BEHAVIOR

It is a violation of our drug and alcohol-free workplace policy to use, possess, sell, trade, and/or offer for sale, be under the influence or have a detectable presence of alcohol, illegal drugs or intoxicants.

A. Prescription Medications

The legal use of prescribed and over-the-counter medications is not prohibited. An employee will be allowed to work while taking properly prescribed medications when it is needed and the employee can work and otherwise conduct himself or herself safely and appropriately and perform the essential functions of their job with or without a reasonable accommodation. However, under no circumstances should an employee report to work under the influence of medication that may make the employee a risk of harm to themselves or others.

Employees taking prescription or non-prescription medications and reporting to work are responsible for understanding the potential effects such medication may have on their ability to work and otherwise conduct themselves in a safe and appropriate manner. Before reporting to work and taking the prescription or non-prescription medications employees should consult with their medical providers to understand the effects such medications may have on their job duties. Employees may wish to request a job description and provide this to their medical provider when discussing such effects.

Employees are required to report the use of medically authorized drugs or other substances that may create a direct threat by impairing job performance of safety-sensitive functions to their supervisor and/or Human Resources. In addition, the employee must provide proper written medical authorization from a physician. Failure to report the use of such drugs or failure to provide proper evidence of medical authorization may result in disciplinary action, up to and including termination. Employees who bring medications to work must maintain these medications in a locked compartment or in a location that is inaccessible to and not visible to others.

12.5 NOTIFICATION OF CONVICTIONS

Any employee who is charged with a criminal drug or alcohol violation must notify the County in writing within five (5) calendar days of the offense, except for arrests, charges, and/or convictions for simple (misdemeanor) possession of marijuana. Va. Code 18.2-248.1 prohibits any person to sell, give, distribute or possess with intent to sell, give, or distribute marijuana. The County will take appropriate disciplinary action up to and including termination if proper notification is not made.

12.6 SEARCHES

Entering the County's property constitutes consent to the search and inspection of your personal property. If an individual is suspected of violating the drug and alcohol-free workplace policy, he or she may be asked to submit to a search or inspection at any time. Search is subject to approval of the County Administrator and Human Resources Departments.

12.7 TESTING PROCEDURES

To ensure the accuracy and fairness of our testing program, all testing will be conducted according to Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA) guidelines. Unless otherwise noted, the following testing procedures apply to all County employees.

A. Pre-employment

As a condition of employment, applicants (post-offer and pre-employment) will be required to participate in a drug screen. The screening process includes a test and review by a Medical Review Officer, including the opportunity for employees who test positive to provide a legitimate medical explanation, such as a physician's prescription, for a positive result; and a documented chain of custody.

B. Random Testing

Employees in safety-sensitive positions will be subject to random, unannounced testing. The Code of Virginia (§2.2-1201.1) defines sensitive positions as those "responsible for the health, safety, and welfare of citizens or the protection of critical infrastructure". Random tests will be reasonably spread throughout all days and hours of operation. Each covered employee shall have an equal chance of being tested each time selections are made. Random alcohol tests will be conducted just prior to an employee performing a safety-sensitive function, during that performance, or just after an employee has performed these covered duties. Random tests will be unannounced and must be performed immediately upon notification of the employee.

The positions in this list may be removed or added at the sole discretion of the County with or without notice. Employees in these positions with a positive test result will be dismissed immediately, unless the County determines there is an adequate and reasonable explanation for the positive test. Such determination is made by the County Administrator or designee, in conjunction with the department head and Human Resources.

Safety-sensitive positions include:

- Animal Control Officer
- EMT/Firefighter
- EMS Coordinator/Supervisor
- E-911 Telecommunicator
- E-911 Shift Supervisor
- Public Safety Administrative Services Coordinator
- E-911 Center Manager
- Assistant Fire Marshal
- Fire Marshal

- Deputy Director of Public Safety
- Director of Public Safety
- Sanitation Collection Driver
- Heavy Equipment Operator
- Assistant Solid Waste Manager / Solid Waste Manager

C. Reasonable Suspicion Testing

Employees may be subject to testing when there is reasonable suspicion to conclude that an employee is under the influence of drugs or alcohol during work hours. Reasonable suspicion will mean that there is objective evidence, based upon specific, articulable observations of the employee's appearance, behavior, speech, or body odor that are consistent with possible drug use and/or alcohol misuse. A reasonable suspicion referral for testing will be made on the basis of documented objective facts and circumstances which are consistent with the longor short- term effects of substance abuse. Reasonable suspicion determinations will be made by one or more supervisors or other County official(s) trained to detect the signs of drug and alcohol use and who reasonably conclude that an employee has used a prohibited drug and/or engaged in alcohol misuse. A written record shall be made of the observations leading to a drug and/or alcohol test and signed by the supervisor or County official who made the observations within 24 hours of the observed behavior or before the results of the drug and/or alcohol test is revealed, whichever comes first. An employee's supervisor, or another designated member of County management, is responsible for driving and accompanying an employee to the testing site for tests conducted for reasonable suspicion.

D. Post-Accident Testing

Employees may also be subject to post-accident testing based on the extent of the property damage, personal injury or if there is a reasonable basis to conclude that drugs or alcohol could have contributed to the accident. Any employee who tests positive may be immediately removed from duty, suspended without pay for a period of 30 days, or referred to a substance abuse professional for assessment and recommendations through the Employee Assistance program, or terminated based upon the severity of the incident.

The County requires that any employee who is driving a county owned vehicle, and who has an accident to undergo drug and alcohol testing as soon as practicable following the accident. An employee's supervisor, or another designated member of County management, is responsible for driving and accompanying an employee to the testing site for tests conducted post-accident. In situations where the employee is being transported in an ambulance or similar carrier to a hospital, the employee agrees to have such test performed upon arrival.

If an alcohol test is not administered within two hours following the accident, a record shall be prepared and maintained on file stating the reasons the test was

not promptly administered. If an alcohol test is not administered within eight hours following the accident, attempts to test for alcohol shall cease.

An employee who is involved in a vehicle accident must refrain from alcohol use for eight hours following the accident or until such time that a post-accident alcohol test is administered, whichever comes first. If a drug test is not administered within 32 hours following the accident, attempts to test for drugs shall cease. An employee who leaves the scene of the accident without appropriate authorization prior to submitting to a drug and alcohol test, will be considered to have refused the test and their employment will be terminated.

Employees tested under this provision will include not only the driver of the vehicle, but any other employee(s) whose performance could have contributed to the accident. If an employee who is involved in an accident does not undergo drug and alcohol testing, detailed documentation of the circumstances surrounding the reasons why the test was not conducted must be filed with the department head and Human Resources.

E. Return to Duty Testing

Return to duty testing is done as recommended by the Substance Abuse Professional following treatment. Before returning to work, an employee must have a negative drug and/or alcohol test result.

F. Follow-up Testing

Once an employee has been allowed to return to duty after a positive test, he or she shall be subject to random, unannounced, follow-up testing for a 60-month period or for a period of time as otherwise directed by the County. Follow-up testing will only be performed while the employee is on duty. A failed follow-up drug or alcohol test will result in termination.

12.8 CONSEQUENCES

One of the goals of our drug and alcohol-free workplace program is to encourage employees to voluntarily seek help with alcohol and/or drug problems. If, however, an individual violates the policy, the consequences are serious.

An employee will be subject to the same consequences of a positive test if he/she refuses the test, adulterates or dilutes the specimen, substitutes the specimen with that from another person or sends an imposter, will not sign the required forms or refuses to cooperate in the testing process in such a way that prevents completion of the test.

In the case of applicants, if he or she violates the drug and alcohol-free workplace policy, the offer of employment can be withdrawn. The applicant may not reapply for employment with the County.

If an employee violates the policy, he or she will be subject to disciplinary action and may be required to enter rehabilitation. An employee required to enter rehabilitation who fails to successfully complete it and/or repeatedly violates the policy will be terminated from employment. Nothing in this policy prohibits the employee from being disciplined or discharged for other violations and/or performance problems.

12.9 ASSISTANCE

The County recognizes that alcohol and drug abuse and addiction are treatable illnesses. We also realize that early intervention and support improve the success of rehabilitation.

To support our employees, our drug and alcohol-free workplace policy:

- Encourages employees to seek help if they are concerned that they or their family members may have a drug and/or alcohol problem.
- Encourages employees to utilize the services of qualified professionals in the community to assess the seriousness of suspected drug or alcohol problems and identify appropriate sources of help.
- Ensures the availability of a current list of qualified community professionals.
- Offers all employees and their family members assistance with alcohol and drug problems through the Employee Assistance Program (EAP).
- Allows the use of accrued paid leave while seeking treatment for alcohol and other drug problems.
- Treatment for alcoholism and/or other drug use disorders may be covered by the employee benefit plan. However, the ultimate financial responsibility for recommended treatment belongs to the employee.

12.10 CONFIDENTIALITY

All information received by the County through the drug and alcohol-free workplace program is confidential communication. Access to this information is limited to those who have a legitimate need to know in compliance with relevant laws and management policies. All drug-testing information will be maintained in separate confidential records.

12.11 SHARED RESPONSIBILITY

A safe and productive drug and alcohol-free workplace is achieved through cooperation and shared responsibility. Both employees and management have important roles to play.

All employees are required to not report to work or be subject to duty while their ability to perform job duties is impaired due to on- or off-duty use of alcohol or other drugs.

In addition, employees are encouraged to:

- Be concerned about working in a safe environment.
- Support fellow workers in seeking help.
- Use the Employee Assistance Program.
- Report dangerous behavior to their supervisor.

It is the supervisor's responsibility to:

- Inform employees of the drug and alcohol-free workplace policy.
- Observe employee performance.
- Investigate reports of dangerous practices.
- Document negative changes and problems in performance.
- Counsel employees as to expected performance improvement.
- Refer employees to the Employee Assistance Program.
- Clearly state any consequences of policy violations.

12.12 COMMUNICATION

Communicating our drug and alcohol-free workplace policy to both supervisors and employees is critical to our success. To ensure all employees are aware of their role in supporting our drug and alcohol-free workplace program:

- All employees will receive a written or electronic copy upon hire.
- The policy and assistance programs will be reviewed at safety meetings.
- Employee education about the dangers of alcohol and drug use and the availability of help will be provided to employees.
- Every supervisor will receive training to help him/her recognize and manage employees with alcohol and other drug problems.

13. TOBACCO USE POLICY

13.1 POLICY.

It is the general policy of Pittsylvania County that there shall be no tobacco use (smoking, chewing, vaping, use of e-cigarettes, or dipping) as defined herein in any building or vehicle owned or leased by the County at any time except in approved designated smoking areas. In establishing this policy, it is the intent of the County to provide a safe workplace.

Failure to adhere to this policy may result in disciplinary action, up to and including termination of employment.

13.2 DEFINITIONS

- A. Public place shall mean any enclosed, indoor area used by the general public including, but not limited to, any building owned or leased by the Commonwealth or any agency thereof or any county, city or town, public conveyance or public vehicle, restaurant, educational facility, hospital, nursing home, other health care facility, library, retail store of 15,000 square feet or more, auditorium, arena, theater, museum, concert hall, or other area used for a performance or an exhibit of the arts or sciences, or any meeting room. (Ref. Code of Virginia, Section 15.2-2820).
- B. Smoke or smoking shall mean the carrying or holding of any lighted pipe, cigar, or cigarette of any kind, or any other lighted smoking equipment, or the lighting, inhaling or exhaling of smoke from a pipe, cigar, e-cigarette/vape pen, or cigarette of any kind. (Ref. Code of Virginia, Section 15.2- 2820).

13.3 AUTHORITY

The County Administrator, or, in the case of buildings not under the direct control of the County, the person in charge, is authorized to establish one (1) or more designated smoking areas outside of each County owned or leased facility provided that the designated smoking area shall be separate to the extent reasonably possible and practicable from those areas or rooms entered by the public or employees during the normal course of business. (Ref. Code of Virginia, Section 15.2- 2827). These areas are only available during lunch and break periods. Approved designated smoking areas must be equipped with items for proper disposal of smoking materials. Under no circumstances should smoking materials be discarded directly onto the ground, lawns, brushes, shrubs, sidewalks, mulch, etc. Any employee found improperly disposing of smoking materials will be subject to disciplinary action.

14. INFECTIOUS DISEASE CONTROL POLICY

Pittsylvania County will take proactive steps to protect the workplace in the event of an infectious disease outbreak. It is the goal of Pittsylvania County during any such event to strive to operate effectively and ensure that all essential services are continuously provided and that employees are safe within the workplace.

Pittsylvania County is committed to providing information about the nature and spread of infectious diseases, including symptoms and signs to watch for, as well as required steps to be taken in the event of an illness or outbreak.

14.1 Preventing the Spread of Infection in the Workplace

Pittsylvania County will ensure a clean workplace, including the regular cleaning of objects and areas that are frequently used, such as bathrooms, break rooms, conference rooms, door handles and railings.

We ask all employees to cooperate in taking steps to reduce the transmission of infectious disease in the workplace. The best strategy remains the most obvious—frequent hand washing with warm, soapy water; covering your mouth whenever you sneeze or cough; and discarding used tissues in wastebaskets. We will also install alcohol-based hand sanitizers throughout the workplace and in common areas.

Unless otherwise notified, our normal attendance and leave policies will remain in place. Individuals who believe they may face specific challenges reporting to work during an infectious disease outbreak, should take steps to develop any necessary contingency plans. For example, employees might want to arrange for alternative sources of childcare should schools close and/or speak with supervisors about the potential to work from home temporarily or on an alternative work schedule.

Temperature Screening

Employees may be required to have their temperature taken upon reporting to work during an infectious disease outbreak.

Employees will be screened privately using a touchless forehead thermometer. The employee's temperature will be documented, and the record will be maintained as a private medical record. An employee who has a fever at or above 100 degrees Fahrenheit will be sent home.

Limiting Travel

All nonessential travel should be avoided until further notice. Employees who travel as an essential part of their job should consult with management on appropriate actions. Business-related travel outside the United States will require authorization from the County Administrator.

Employees should avoid crowded public transportation when possible.

Telecommuting

Telework requests will be handled on a case-by-case basis. While not all positions will be eligible, all requests for temporary telecommuting should be submitted to your manager for consideration. All telecommuting arrangements must be approved by the Human Resources Director and County Administrator in advance of beginning telework.

Staying Home When Sick

Many times, with the best of intentions, employees report to work even though they feel ill. Pittsylvania County provides paid sick time and other benefits to compensate employees who are unable to work due to illness.

During an infectious disease outbreak, it is critical that employees do not report to work while they are ill. Currently, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention recommends that people with an infectious illness such as the flu remain at home until at least 24 hours after they are free of fever (100 degrees F or 37.8 degrees C) or signs of a fever without the use of fever-reducing medications. Employees who report to work ill will be sent home.

Requests for Medical Information and/or Documentation

If you are out sick or show symptoms of being ill, it may become necessary to request information from you and/or your health care provider. In general, we would request medical information to confirm your need to be absent, to show whether and how an absence relates to the infection, and to know that it is appropriate for you to return to work. As always, we expect and appreciate your cooperation, if and when, medical information is sought.

Confidentiality of Medical Information

Our policy is to treat any medical information as a confidential medical record. In furtherance of this policy, any disclosure of medical information is in limited circumstances with supervisors, managers, first aid and safety personnel, and government officials as required by law.

14.2 Social Distancing Guidelines for Workplace Infectious Disease Outbreaks

In the event of an infectious disease outbreak, Pittsylvania County may implement these social distancing guidelines to minimize the spread of the disease among the staff.

During the workday, employees are requested to:

- A. Avoid meeting people face-to-face. Employees are encouraged to use the telephone, online conferencing, e-mail, or messaging to conduct business as much as possible, even when participants are in the same building.
- B. Use video conferencing (i.e., Zoom) to conduct meetings. If a face-to-face meeting is unavoidable, minimize the meeting time, choose a large meeting room, and sit at least one yard from each other if possible; avoid person-to-person contact such as shaking hands.
- C. Avoid any unnecessary travel and cancel or postpone nonessential meetings, gatherings, conferences, workshops, and training sessions.
- D. Do not congregate in work rooms, break rooms, or other areas where people socialize.
- E. Bring lunch and eat at your desk or away from others (avoid lunchrooms and crowded restaurants).

Any questions regarding this policy should be directed to human resources.

15. SOLICITATION

To avoid disruption of business operations or disturbance of employees, visitors, and others, the County has implemented a No Solicitation Policy. For purposes of the No Solicitation Policy, "solicitation" includes selling items or services, requesting contributions, and soliciting or seeking to obtain membership in or support for any organization. Solicitation performed through verbal, written, or electronic means is covered by the No Solicitation Policy.

Employees are prohibited from soliciting other employees during their assigned working time. For this purpose, working time means time during which either the soliciting employees or the employees who are the object of the solicitation are expected to be actively engaged with assigned work. Employees may conduct solicitations during their lunch period, coffee breaks, or other authorized nonworking time, so long as they do so when the other employees are also on nonworking time.

To avoid inappropriate litter, clutter, and safety risks, employees may not distribute literature or other nonwork related items in working areas at any time. Working areas do not include break/rest areas, lunch rooms, or parking lots. Nothing in this policy is intended to limit employee rights under the National Labor Relations Act. County email may not be used to solicit others for commercial ventures, religious or political causes, outside organizations or other non-business matters.

DATING

The Pittsylvania County strongly discourages employees from dating or entering into romantic relationships with a co-worker. These relationships have the potential to cause serious problems in the workplace. Such relationships may cause morale problems, lead to claims of favoritism, discrimination, and sexual harassment, and affect the work routine and workload of co-workers. Employees that choose to date co-workers, are expected to maintain their professionalism. Their level of productivity cannot be affected, and public displays of affection are not acceptable while on duty employees should also review a copy of the County's Sexual Harassment Policy.

Manager/subordinate relationships, or any relationship between County employees that constitutes a crime in the Commonwealth of Virginia will not be permitted, and will result in disciplinary action up to and including termination of one or both parties involved.

Any questions regarding this policy should be directed to human resources.

17. HARASSMENT AND CONDUCT

The County shall not condone any form of unlawful harassment of any employee. Consistent with our policy of equal employment opportunity, harassment in the workplace

based on a person's race, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, religion, national origin, age, genetic makeup, veteran status, or disability will not be tolerated. All allegations of any form of harassment shall be investigated and the county will just as aggressively investigate any situation where unfounded complaints are lodged and will view that situation just as seriously. The County has a strict policy prohibiting unlawful harassment in any form, including sexual harassment, whether committed by employees, volunteers, Management and/or third parties.

The County is committed to having a diverse workforce with all employees being valued for their individual capabilities and contributions, complying with all federal, state, and local laws on equal employment opportunity, and striving to provide a workplace free from tensions involved in conduct that does not relate to the County's business. In particular, the hostile atmosphere created by non-work-related conduct including ethnic, racial, sexual, or religious remarks, animosity, unwelcome sexual advances, request for sexual favors, or other similar conduct is not permitted.

Harassment arises from the dynamics of the workplace and can be based on nuances, subtle perceptions, and implicit communications. Conduct that may rise to the level of harassment includes verbal remarks (epithets, derogatory statements, slurs, jokes), physical contact (assaults, physical interference with movement or work, touching), visual displays (displaying of printed or photographic materials, objects), and other actions that are demeaning or hostile.

17.1 SEXUAL HARASSMENT

Sexual harassment is unwelcome advances, request for favors, or other verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature when:

- A. submission to such conduct is either explicitly or implicitly made a term or condition of employment;
- B. submission or rejection of such conduct is used as a basis for employment decisions;
- C. the conduct is severe or pervasive enough to create an intimidating, hostile, or offensive work environment.

Examples of sexual harassment are:

- A. verbal or physical assaults;
- B. subtle or overt pressures or direct requests for sexual favors;
- C. inappropriate displays of sexually suggestive objects, pictures, electronic pictures, or other materials that are sexually suggestive, sexually demeaning, or pornographic; or

D. a pattern of unwelcome conduct of a sexual nature that would be offensive to a reasonable person such as unnecessary touching, abusive or demeaning language or gestures (including remarks about another's clothing, body or body movements, or sexual activities), or teasing or joking.

Management is responsible for ensuring that the County's work environment is free of harassment, whether sexual or otherwise. In addition, all employees are responsible for respecting the rights of their co-employees.

No supervisor or coworker shall suggest either explicitly or implicitly that an employee's submission to or rejection of sexual advances will in any way influence any personnel decision regarding that employee's employment, evaluation, wages, advancement, assigned duties, shifts, or any other conditions of employment.

17.2 VIOLATIONS AND REPORTING

Any employee who believes he or she has experienced unlawful job-related harassment should report any such harassment promptly to Management. Should any employee believe it would be inappropriate to discuss the matter with his or her direct supervisor, the employee may report it directly to any member of Management. Every effort will be made to promptly investigate all allegations of harassment in as confidential a manner as possible and appropriate corrective action taken if warranted. If the County determines that any employee has violated this harassment policy, appropriate disciplinary action will be taken against the offending employee, up to and including termination of employment. We will periodically follow-up with the complainant to ensure that the actions taken by the County have remedied any problems and that the issues that prompted the complaint have not recurred. An employee violating this policy will be subject to disciplinary action, including termination. The employee who brought the complaint will be provided information on the outcome of the investigation.

17.3 RETALIATION

The County prohibits any form of retaliation against an employee for making a bona fide complaint of harassment under this policy or for assisting in a complaint investigation.

17.4 HORSEPLAY AND FIGHTING

Although we want our employees to enjoy their jobs and have fun working together, we cannot allow employees to engage in horseplay or to play practical jokes or pranks on each other. At best, these actions disrupt the workplace and dampen the morale of some; at worst, they lead to complaints of discrimination, harassment, or assault.

Employees are prohibited from engaging in horseplay—which is fun that has gotten loud and boisterous and out of control. Horseplay disrupts the work environment and can get out of hand, leading to fighting, hurt feelings, safety hazards, or worse.

Verbal assaults or physical fighting among employees is absolutely prohibited and may be cause for immediate termination. Employees shall not engage in, provoke, or encourage a fight.

Those who violate this policy will be disciplined, up to and including termination.

17.5 WORKPLACE BULLYING

The County will not in any instance tolerate bullying behavior. Bullying may be intentional or unintentional. Bullying is defined as repeated inappropriate behavior, either direct or indirect, whether verbal, physical, gesture, cyber, exclusion or otherwise, conducted by one or more persons against another or others, at the place of work and/or in the course of employment. All employees must treat each other and the County's clients, vendors, etc. with dignity and respect. Employees found in violation of this policy will be disciplined, up to and including termination.

17.6 GOSSIP AND RUMORS

We expect our employees to treat everyone they meet through their jobs with courtesy and respect. Gossip and rumors in the workplace destroy morale and relationships, and it impede the effective and efficient operation of our business. Gossip and rumors can drain, distract and downshift employee job satisfaction. In order to create a more professional workplace, we the undersigned are making a commitment to change our atmosphere to be gossip and rumor-free.

Employees are not to speak about another person that is an employee or a member when that person is not present unless it is to compliment that employee or with regard to a business matter. Employees are encouraged to not participate in any conversation when an employee or member mentions a person that is not present and is speaking about that person in a negative light. Employees are not to respond to negative or derogatory emails, texts, or chats about other employees or clients. If employees become aware of another employee doing something unethical or in violation of County policy, employees are to use the proper reporting channels to report this information so that corrective action can be taken.

Employees who violate this policy will face disciplinary action, up to and including termination.

Further, the County will also not tolerate threatening, abusive, or vulgar language from employees while they are at work or attending County-related business or social functions. Using profane language is discouraged and strictly prohibited in the vicinity of clients or potential clients and may be cause for immediate termination.

17.7 VIOLENCE PREVENTION

The County does not tolerate employee violence or threats on County property or on County time. The County strives to provide each employee with a safe working environment and to provide our customers with a comfortable business climate. Employees who jeopardize this safe atmosphere by engaging in violent behavior will be disciplined, up to and including discharge for a first offense. Any employee with knowledge of any violation of this policy should report to his or her supervisor, department head, or the County Administrator without delay. The unauthorized possession of firearms, illegal knives, blackjacks, explosives, or other weapons on County property or on County time is absolutely prohibited. Violation of this rule warrants discharge for a first offense. In order to maintain workplace safety and the integrity of its investigation, the County may suspend employees, either with or without pay, pending investigations.

Violent behavior includes fighting, threats, harassment, verbal assault, and other aggressive or intimidating behavior that places another individual in discomfort or fear for his or her well- being. If an employee is subjected to violent behavior, the employee should inform his or her supervisor instead of responding with violence. An employee should not escalate a potentially hostile situation.

The County supports victims of workplace violence by offering an Employee Assistance Program to victims and their families. The County may mandate that an employee who is the victim of violence attend an EAP program before returning to work. Any employee with knowledge of any violation of this policy should report to his or her supervisor without delay.

18. GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

Pittsylvania County recognizes that there are times when the need arises for employees to express concerns or complaints in a formal manner. The following procedures will ensure that employees receive a fair, unbiased, and timely review of workplace concerns.

18.1 ELIGIBLITY

All regular full-time and permanent part-time (non-probationary) County employees, including employees of the Department of Social Services, are eligible to file a grievance as provided in this policy.

The following are not eligible to file a grievance as provided in this policy:

- A. County Administrator;
- B. County Attorney;
- C. Members of Boards and Commissions;
- D. Employees whose terms are limited by law;
- E. Constitutional Officers and their employees:
- F. Temporary, limited term and seasonal employees.

18.2 DEFINITION OF GRIEVANCE

A grievance shall be a complaint or dispute by an eligible employee as defined in section 17.1 relating to his/her employment, including but not necessarily limited to:

- A. Disciplinary actions, including dismissals, disciplinary demotions and suspensions;
- B. Dismissals shall be grievable whenever resulting from formal disciplinary action or unsatisfactory job performance;
- C. Acts of retaliation as the result of utilization of the grievance procedure, or participation in the grievance of another County employee;
- D. Complaints of discrimination on the basis of race, color, creed, gender, national origin, marital status, age, religion, political affiliation, disability or veteran status;
- E. Acts of retaliation because an employee has complied with any law of the United States or of the Commonwealth, has reported any violation of such law to a governmental authority, or has sought any change in law before the Congress of the United States or General Assembly, or has reported an incidence of fraud, abuse, or gross mismanagement.

18.3 NON-GRIEVABLE COMPLAINTS

Management reserves the exclusive right to manage the affairs and operations of the County government. Accordingly, complaints regarding the following are non-grievable:

- A. The establishment and revision of wages or salaries, including periodic pay adjustments, position classifications or general benefits;
- B. Work activity accepted by the employee as a condition of employment or work activity which may reasonably be expected to be a part of the job content;
- C. The contents of ordinances, statutes, or established personnel policies, procedures, rules and regulations;
- D. Failure to promote, except where the employee can show the County Administrator that promotional policies were not followed or applied fairly:
- E. The methods, means and personnel by which such work activities are to be carried on:
- F. Except where such action affects an employee who has been reinstated within the previous six months as a result of the final determination of a grievance, termination, layoff, demotion or suspension from duties because of lack of work, reduction in work force, or job abolition. In any grievance brought under this exception, the action shall be upheld upon a showing by the County that there was a valid business reason for the action and the employee was notified of such in writing prior to the effective date of the action;
- G. The hiring, promotion, transfer, assignment and retention of employees within County service;
- H. The relief of employees from duties in emergencies.

18.4 GRIEVABILITY

Decisions regarding grievability or access to the grievance procedures shall be made by the County Administrator.

- A. The determination of grievability shall be made before the employee has access to the grievance procedures outlined in section 18.5 Procedures;
- B. If an employee questions whether a situation is grievable under this policy, the employee shall submit a *Determination of Grievability* form to the County Administrator for determination within and no later than 20 working days after the event giving rise to the grievance;
- C. The County Administrator shall respond within ten (10) working days of receiving the *Determination of Grievability* form from the employee. The decision will be indicated on the *Determination of Grievability* form and sent to the employee and his/her supervisor or department head;
- D. If the County Administrator determines the complaint is grievable; the employee will proceed to the steps outlined in section 18.5 Procedures;
- E. If the County Administrator determines the complaint is not grievable, the employee may appeal the decision as outlined in Step 4.

18.5 PROCEDURES

Many concerns can be resolved informally when an employee and supervisor take time to review the concern and discuss options to address the issue. However, if an employee wishes to engage in the Grievance Procedure, in the interest of a speedy resolution, Pittsylvania County utilizes the Commonwealth's Expedited Grievance Process. To initiate a Grievance, the employee should use *Grievance Form A – Expedited Process*. The Expedited Grievance Process skips the traditional "Step 1," meaning employees should submit their written grievance form ("*Grievance Form A – Expedited Process*") to the second-step respondent and begin the Grievance Process at Step 2.

Step 2: Written grievance to the Department Head

The employee must submit a written grievance on *Grievance Form A – Expedited Process, Step 2*, to the department head for review within thirty (30) working days of the date the employee knew or should have known of the issue being grieved. This form can be obtained from Human Resources.

NOTE: If the department head is the County Administrator, the employee may proceed directly to Step 3.

Within five (5) working days of receipt of the written grievance from the employee, the department head shall hold a meeting with the employee to review the grievance.

- 1. The only people who may be present at this meeting are the employee, the department head, and appropriate witnesses for each if requested. Witnesses shall only be present while actually providing testimony;
- 2. The department head will consult with the employee's immediate supervisor, human resources and any other relevant parties to evaluate the grievance;
- 3. The department head will provide a written response to the employee within five (5) working days from the date of the meeting with the employee.

Step 3: Written grievance to the County Administrator

If the employee is not satisfied with the response from the department head, the employee may submit a written grievance within five (5) working days from the date of the department head's response, to the County Administrator for review. The grievance shall be submitted on the *Grievance Form A- Expedited Process, Step 3*. This form can be obtained from the Human Resources.

The County Administrator will schedule a meeting with the employee to be held within five (5) working days from the date on the *Grievance Form A – Expedited Process, Step3* form. The County Administrator will consult with any and all relevant parties to evaluate the grievance and provide a written response to the employee within five (5) working days from the date of the meeting with the employee.

Step 4: Appealing a Decision on Grievability

Decisions regarding grievability and access to the grievance procedure made by the County Administrator may be appealed and assigned to a Hearing Officer for review.

- A. Proceedings for a review of the County Administrator's decision regarding grievability shall be initiated by the employee by filing a *Notice of Appeal and Appointment of Hearing Officer* form with the County Administrator within ten (10) working days from the date of receipt of the decision by the County Administrator. This form can be obtained from Human Resources;
- B. Within ten (10) working days, the County Administrator (or designee) shall transmit to the Clerk of Court for Pittsylvania County a copy of the *Determination of Grievability* form, a copy of the *Notice of Appeal* form, and any other relevant documentation;
- C. All documentation provided to the Clerk of Court shall be provided to the employee;
- D. Within 30 days of receipt of documentation by the Clerk of Court, the court shall assign a Hearing Officer and the Hearing Officer shall hear the appeal on the record transmitted by the County Administrator (or designee), and such additional evidence as may be necessary to resolve any controversy as to the correctness of the record. The Hearing Officer may request other such evidence as required;
- E. The Hearing Officer may affirm the decision of the County Administrator, or may reverse or modify the decision;

- F. The decision of the Hearing Officer shall be rendered no later than 15 days from the date of the conclusion of the hearing of the appeal;
- G. The decision of the Hearing Officer is final and is not appealable.

18.6 GENERAL TERMS AND COMPLIANCE

Except as otherwise noted, the following rules apply to all levels of the grievance procedure:

- A. It shall be the duty of the employee to obtain the necessary forms from Human Resources;
- B. Time intervals specified at each level of the procedure may be extended by mutual consent of the parties and documented in writing;
- C. Working days are defined as Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday, Thursday and Friday;
- D. All grievance meetings are to be held during normal County working days;
- E. County employees who are necessary participants in the grievance process shall not lose pay for time away from their job and will not be charged leave as a result;
- F. The use of recording devices is not permitted in any of the steps of the grievance process;
- G. At the Step 3 meeting, the employee, at his/her option, may have present a representative of his/her choice;
- H. If the employee is represented by legal counsel, the County also has the option of being represented by legal counsel;
- I. Each party shall bear the cost, if any, of legal counsel or representative;
- J. Except as otherwise noted, the failure of any party to comply with all procedural requirements without just cause, shall result in a decision in favor of the other party on any grievable issue;
- K. The County Administrator is the final authority on all general terms and compliance issues in regard to the grievance procedure.

18.7 RECORDKEEPING

Human Resources will maintain records of the grievance process confidentially and securely.

19. EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE REVIEW

Performance reviews benefit both employee and employer. They provide a framework for professional development and recognition of the quality of work performed by employees. The annual review is a time to provide feedback, recognize quality performance and set expectations for future job performance. It is also a time to have candid conversations about performance that is lacking and how performance can be improved. Successful performance management is an ongoing and continuous process involving interactive and open communication between the supervisor and the employee

whose performance is being evaluated. Ideally, the performance management process continues throughout the year with regular communication and feedback between the supervisor and employee. Ongoing performance discussions can assist in avoiding serious problems in the future.

Human Resources will communicate instructions to department heads each year in regard to completing performance reviews. These instructions will also include a timeline for completion.

19.1 FREQUENCY

Although reviews should address performance as it occurs, formal written reviews should be prepared and delivered at the following times:

i. Upon Completion of the Introductory Period

All full-time and part-time employees will receive a formal review upon completion of six (6) months of service from the date of hire. The supervisor is responsible for preparing and delivering the review, obtaining signatures and sending the final document to human resources.

ii. Annually

All full-time and part-time employees will receive a formal review on an annual basis at the end of the calendar year. The supervisor is responsible for preparing and delivering the review.

19.2 FORMS

The performance review form and all related documents can be found on the County website under Human Resources.

20. TRAVEL AND EXPENSE POLICY

20.1 PURPOSE

The County's policy regarding reimbursement for travel or business-related expenditures includes a variety of practices to provide the employee with fair and equitable compensation for travel expenses related to the conduct of County business. The policy aligns with the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) concerning what constitutes compensable time. The principles which apply in determining whether time spent in travel is compensable time depends upon the kind of travel involved.

A. Home to Work Travel: An employee who travels from home before the regular workday and returns to his/her home at the end of the workday, is engaged in ordinary home to work travel, which is not work time and not paid.

- B. Home to Work on a Special One Day Assignment to Another City: An employee who regularly works at a fixed location in one city is given a special one-day assignment in another city, and return home the same day. The time spent in traveling to and returning from the other city is work time, except that the County may deduct that time the employee would normally spend commuting to the regular work site.
- C. Travel That is All in a Day's Work: Time spent by an employee in travel as part of their normal activity, such as traveling from one job site to another during the workday, is work time and must be counted as hours worked.
- D. Travel Away from Home Community: Travel that keeps an employee away from home overnight is travel away from home. Travel away from home is clearly work time when it cuts across the employee's workday. The time is not only hours worked on regular working days during normal working hours and compensable, but also during corresponding hours on non-working days. For example, if an employee travels to an overnight conference on a Sunday, the hours spent traveling during the employee's normal work hours are compensable. As an enforcement policy, the Department of Labor will not consider as work time, that time spent in travel away from home, outside of regular working hours, as a passenger on an airplane, train, boat, bus, or automobile. However, time spent working while traveling as a passenger must be paid.

20.2 GENERAL

Requests for county employees' in-state travel must be preapproved by the department head or Constitutional Officer designee. Request for county employee out of state travel, requiring overnight accommodations, must be preapproved by the County Administrator or Constitutional Officer. Travel out of state during the course of normal business, that does not involve an overnight stay, requires only department head approval. Travel allocations shall normally be included in departmental/Constitutional Officer operating budget requests. Requests for travel and other expense reimbursement must be made on an approved County reimbursement form, and must be accompanied by receipts and other documentation. Each expense for which reimbursement is sought must be itemized. Each employee seeking reimbursement must sign his or her request. Each request must be signed and approved by the department head. Reimbursements will be made only to the employee seeking the reimbursement and not to a second party.

20.3 MEAL ALLOWANCE

Reimbursements for meals shall not exceed the amount approved by the Finance Director or designee. Information concerning the current amounts may be obtained from the Finance Director. Itemized receipts must be attached when requesting reimbursements.

20.4 MILEAGE REIMBURSEMENT

It is expected that employees traveling out-of-town on County business will use only the most direct route to and from the location of that business. The use of personal vehicles for County business will be reimbursed after a determination is made by the respective department head. Mileage shall be reimbursed at the prevailing rate per mile as published by the Internal Revenue Service for business use of personal vehicles. Mileage will be calculated to and from job sites. Normal travel time from work-to-home, and home-to-work will be deducted from out-of-town travel reimbursement.

20.5 NON-REIMBURSABLE TRAVEL EXPENSES

Ineligible expenses include but are not limited to the following: purchase of alcoholic beverages, personal recreation-related expenses, and entertainment costs. Expenses for spouses/guests are not allowed.

21. HEALTH AND SAFETY

21.1 OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH

Pittsylvania County attempts to provide a safe and healthy working environment for all employees by providing the necessary safety education and training. Employees shall follow all prescribed safety procedures when performing their daily activities and shall further exercise all reasonable and prudent judgment to ensure safety.

Each supervisor has the responsibility for ensuring that the various work centers are free from any recognized hazards that might lead to death or injury. Further, it is the responsibility of each employee to perform all work in a safe manner. All hazards, deaths, injuries, "near misses," and illnesses that occur on County property must be reported to the manager within the same day of the discovery or occurrence.

Employees are directed to utilize all applicable safety procedures and equipment, and to perform all work in a safe manner. Employees are responsible for bringing to their supervisor's attention any potential hazards that might exist within their workstations. Supervisors are responsible for developing and maintaining work safety rules and for providing these rules in writing to their subordinates. Specifically, employees shall:

- A. Report all injuries, regardless of severity, to the supervisor immediately, but no later than twenty-four (24) hours. If the supervisor is not available, the injury should be reported to the manager before medical treatment is sought; Employee and Immediate Supervisor shall follow the County's Procedure for reporting Worker's Compensation Claims.
 - B. Report and, if possible, correct all unsafe conditions or acts;
 - C. Avoid horseplay and mischief which could cause injury;
 - D. Take all standard safety precautions to prevent injury;

E. Follow all safety rules.

21.2 SELF- INSPECTION SAFETY PROGRAM

A. Purpose

Hazard prevention and control may be the most cost-effective aspect of the County's safety program. Self-inspections will allow identification of most hazards. Some hazards will be physical while others will be procedural. All must be identified and addressed in some way.

B. General Policy Statement

In an effort to create a safe and healthy workplace, the County has established a policy to conduct regularly scheduled self-inspections of the County's premises, job sites, and procedures by which all work is completed. All necessary steps will be taken to assure the safety of employees, the public, and any contractors.

C. Management Responsibilities

- 1. Department heads will conduct or support self-inspection training for supervisors and/or employees that may have a part in this activity.
- 2. Department heads will monitor the implementation of the Self-Inspection Program in order to evaluate the overall effectiveness.
- 3. Each supervisor will provide the means and support necessary to ensure compliance with all applicable regulations and responsibilities outlined herein.
- 4. A Safety Committee, appointed by the County Administrator, shall have developmental and audit duties to be certain the safety policy is written, firmly established, and maintained.
- 5. The Safety Committee will be responsible for working with department heads to delegate activities to committee members or other supervisors to complete the self- inspections.

D. Employee Responsibilities

1. To make the Self-Inspection Program as productive as possible, all County employees are expected to cooperate by answering any safety or work procedural questions asked by inspectors.

- 2. Employees are encouraged to volunteer ideas about how facilities, equipment or work procedures can be changed or improved to make them safer.
- 3. Report all hazardous conditions dangerous work procedures and near misses (an unplanned event that could have caused injury or damage).

E. Self-Inspections

- 1. Written Program. Will be reviewed and evaluated annually.
- 2. Safety Committee. Will establish the types of inspections to be conducted and will determine the frequency of completion. Once an initial inspection is completed, the frequency of further inspections will be determined. This will be based on the number and severity of hazards identified. Many OSHA programs require an annual inspection/survey. Along with management, the committee will decide which self-inspections safety committee members would conduct and which are to be delegated to supervisors, equipment operators or specially trained engineers or maintenance personnel. All self-inspections required to be conducted more often than monthly will be completed by non-safety committee members.
- 3. Inspection Procedures. Previous inspection reports and any incident investigation reports will be reviewed prior to initiating an inspection to determine what items have been corrected, modified, completed, etc. The new inspection is then completed. A copy of the completed inspection form(s) will be forwarded to the designated inspection program coordinator, with recommendations for corrective action if deficiencies are noted. Department heads will take immediate corrective action to eliminate or minimize hazards. Management will then initiate permanent corrective action where possible.
- 4. Observations of Procedures and Actions. Observations of work practices and procedures will be conducted in addition to the established checklists. Comments will be offered on the inspection form and reported to the appropriate supervisor(s). This component of the inspection process will be kept professional and positive, not punitive. These inspections will accompany/be conducted independently of the checklist portion of the inspection process. Observation inspections will be conducted every two months.
- 5. Forms. Forms to guide investigators will be produced and modified as needed. Other forms will be generated and used as deemed necessary and may need to be specifically designed for some departments. Some forms will require descriptive observations made about how

employees perform specific tasks, to determine work methods and actions that may contribute to hazards.

- 6. Inspector Training. Training on how to conduct effective self-inspections will be coordinated by the safety committee. Classroom training may be followed by site inspections with instruction from an experienced inspector who is able to answer questions relating to the inspection process and the inspection forms themselves.
- 7. Inspection Results/Corrective Actions. All items noted as needing improvement, modification, or action will be communicated to the appropriate manager or supervisor for the department(s) affected. Response to the deficiency will depend on the action as indicated by the nature of the shortfall. A response from the manager/supervisor will be sent to the safety committee indicating action(s) taken.
- 8. Follow-up. If necessary, the safety committee will review and act on all lack of progress in addressing self-inspection items noted for improvement.

21.3 ACCIDENT OR INJURY INCIDENT INVESTIGATION PROGRAM

A. General

The County is committed to providing a safe and healthy working environment for its employees. As such, we make every effort to comply with relevant federal and state occupational health and safety laws and to develop the best feasible operations, procedures, technologies, and programs conducive to this environment.

Our policy is aimed at minimizing the exposure of our employees, clients, and visitors to our facilities to health or safety risks. To accomplish this objective, all employees are expected to work diligently to maintain safe and healthful working conditions and to adhere to proper operating practices and procedures designed to prevent injuries and illnesses. The responsibility of all employees includes:

- 1. Exercising maximum care and good judgment at all times to prevent accidents and injuries;
 - 2. Following the instructions of Supervisors and Management;
- 3. Reporting to Supervisors and seeking first aid for all injuries, regardless of how minor;
- 4. Reporting unsafe conditions, equipment, or practices to Supervisors or Management;

- 5. Using safety equipment provided by the County at all times;
- 6. Wearing personal protective equipment, such as safety glasses, hearing protection, masks, or gloves, and refraining from wearing dangling jewelry or apparel.
- 7. Observing conscientiously all safety rules and regulations at all times; and
- 8. Notifying their supervisor before the beginning of the workday if they are taking any medication that may cause drowsiness or other side effects that could lead to injury to them or their coworkers.

When any accident, injury, or illness occurs while an employee is at work, it must be reported to your supervisor as soon as possible regardless of the nature or severity. "Near misses" should also be reported promptly. The County will provide the proper form for reporting job-related accidents, injuries and illnesses. Any employee failing to report such occurrences is subject to disciplinary action and possible loss of benefits.

21.4 WORKERS' COMPENSATION

Employees of the County are covered by Workers' Compensation insurance which is purchased by the County. This insurance provides compensation to an employee for lost wages caused by illness, accidental injury, or death suffered in the course of or as a result of his/her employment with the County in accordance with the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia.

Eligibility: Eligibility for benefits under Workers' Compensation insurance is automatic and is effective on date of hire.

Reporting: A report must be filed within twenty-four (24) hours of the onset of illness or injury. Failure to report may result in disciplinary action and possible loss of benefits.

Benefits: Worker's Compensation benefits provide weekly payments based upon a statutorily specified amount of the employee's regular earnings as well as payments for medical and hospital expenses arising out of an occupational illness or injury.

Wage Continuation: On the first day of the accident where injury has resulted and the employee cannot return to work that same day, the County will pay the employee up to eight (8) hours for that day.

Effect on Continuous Service Date: Any time lost by an employee due to an occupational illness or injury covered by Worker's Compensation insurance will be credited as active service for all County benefits.

The Family and Medical Leave Act requires that the County provide up to 12 weeks of unpaid, job-protected leave to eligible employees when a serious health condition makes an employee unable to perform his or her job. Any Workers' Compensation injury or illness that qualifies as a serious health condition will be designated as FMLA and counted against the employee's annual FMLA entitlement. For the duration of the FMLA leave, the County will maintain the employee's health and life insurance coverage. The employee must pay for other benefits that are usually deducted from his or her salary. Employees on leave resulting from a workers' compensation injury will not accrue vacation or sick leave hours.

If an injured employee is unable to return to work at the conclusion of the 12 weeks, the employee will remain on leave of absence until a determination is made by management.

Should an employee believe he/she is eligible for disability retirement under the Virginia Retirement System, he/she should discuss this with the department head.

21.5 RETURN-TO-WORK POLICY

The medical provider will notify the employer of any changes in the injured worker's physical restrictions, in writing, and will specify the employee's ability to return to work with or without restrictions or reasonable accommodation.

A. Statement

The County will make every effort to return injured employees to productive employment as early as possible, compatible with physical restrictions and good medical practices.

A strong return to work effort yields several benefits including:

- Acceleration of the injured employee's recovery;
- Maintenance of an experienced workforce;
- Reductions in claims costs; and
- Improved employee relations.

The County's first responsibility is the prevention of occupational injury and illness. The County is committed to providing transitional work, on a temporary basis. The employee will continue to receive pay at his regular pay scale and receive job-related benefits of his original position.

Transitional work is defined as:

Appropriate work to allow the resolution of the injury and to prevent re-injury.

Modification of the job according to the medical limitations and needs of the department where the employee may be assigned.

A meaningful job.

Temporary transitional work assignments will be reviewed every fourteen (14) days.

B. Procedure

- 1. Pittsylvania County shall receive a workers' compensation follow-up form which identifies specific employee restrictions.
- 2. The County shall review these physical restrictions and plan tasks for the employee on a temporary transitional assignment.
- 3. The employer and employee will meet to discuss the temporary transitional work assignment and complete a temporary transitional work form.
- 4. The employer will re-evaluate all temporary work assignments every fourteen (14) days.
- 5. Every effort shall be made within the employee's department or if necessary, within another department to find a suitable modified work assignment for an employee unable to perform his/her regular duties.
- 6. The modified work assignment shall be based upon the treating physician's medical evaluation (including information on required medical treatments, recovery prognosis, work restrictions, and time frames). The department head, Human Resources Director and/or the Safety Committee, when needed, shall carefully consider the medical report(s) and the availability of suitable modified duty prior to initiating a modified work assignment. The Safety Committee may also provide assistance when needed in identifying modified work.
- 7. An injured employee, who refuses any suitable employment, shall not be entitled to any compensation at any time during the continuance of such refusal, unless in the opinion of the Virginia Workers' Compensation Commission the refusal was justified.

21.6 VEHICLE SAFETY POLICY AND DRIVER REQUIREMENTS

County owned vehicles may be operated only by approved County employees. Prior to employment, an applicant for a county position must agree to a license check and a drug screening by executing County approved consent forms. Driver's license checks will be

conducted on all employees who operate County vehicles once a year, thereafter. If operation of a County owned vehicle is a primary requirement of an employee's job, a poor driving record could result in disciplinary action including dismissal. In addition, County owned vehicles are to be used only for County sponsored activities. Drug tests may be required for vehicle operators at any time as outlined in Section 11.

A. Purpose

It is the policy of Pittsylvania County to protect its employees and citizens from injuries caused by motor vehicle accidents involving vehicles owned by the County. The County will ensure compliance with County, state and federal laws and regulations and provide the most effective level of service at the least cost to citizens.

B. Covered Departments

All County Departments are covered by this policy.

C. County Vehicle Use Policy

Only County employees may operate County owned vehicles and other motorized equipment. Approved volunteer fire and rescue members may also operate County owned vehicles and other motorized equipment. The department head is responsible for all volunteer activities and compliance with all policies and procedures regarding use of County vehicles.

D. Responsibility

- 1. All County employees operating county vehicles shall adhere to the stipulations and requirements of this policy.
- 2. Seat belts are required at all times for the operator and all occupants of County vehicles.
- 3. Department heads shall be responsible for enforcement of this Policy in relation to their employees and any volunteer fire and rescue members.
- 4. Employees involved in an accident while operating a county vehicle must report it, if possible, to 911 immediately.
- 5. An employee operating a county vehicle must report any mechanical failure, accident, traffic violation or damage sustained to the vehicle while in the employee's use to the department head or his designee. County employees shall obey all traffic laws while operating a County owned vehicle and focus on driving at all times. Operators should avoid distractions such as cell phone usage and eating while driving in a moving vehicle.

- 6. A file shall be kept on each vehicle owned by the County by the department to which that vehicle is assigned. This file shall contain maintenance records and other pertinent information associated with the vehicle.
- 7. County employees and occupants shall not use tobacco products while in a County owned vehicle.
- 8. County employees shall not use, purchase, or transport alcohol while driving County owned vehicles.
- 9. Department heads shall ensure that all vehicles assigned to their department will be inspected every two (2) months. The purpose of this inspection is to identify potential safety concerns with the vehicle and to ensure that all necessary equipment remains with the vehicle. The inspections shall be documented and kept in the vehicle file.

E. Accident Review

County drivers who are involved in an accident while operating a vehicle on County business may be interviewed by the County or Departmental Accident Review Committee. The purpose of the review is to learn ways to prevent accidents and to recommend appropriate actions to the County Administrator.

F. Driver Requirements

1. Acceptable Driving Record

For the purposes of this policy, the following constitutes an acceptable driving record:

- a) A valid Virginia driver's license with a score of -4 or better.
- b) No license revocations or suspensions within the past three (3) years.
- c) No record of conviction of a felony while operating a motor vehicle.
- d) No Driving under the Influence ("DUI") Driving while Intoxicated ("DWI") convictions in the past three (3) years.

2. Driver Eligibility

a) In order to operate County owned vehicles, an employee must be eighteen (18) years of age with a minimum of two (2) years of acceptable legal driving experience. If the employee's

job requires transporting non-County employees in County vehicles, the employee must be at least eighteen (18) years of age with a minimum of two (2) years of acceptable, licensed driving experience.

- b) All County employees whose jobs may include driving responsibilities will have their Department of Motor Vehicles ("DMV") driving record reviewed annually by their department head.
- c) A County employee is eligible to operate a vehicle for County business purposes if their DMV driving record is determined to be satisfactory upon review by the department.
- d) The Department will utilize the Virginia Department of Motor Vehicles Driver Improvement Program to assess driver eligibility.
 - e) Employees must inform their supervisor of the following:
 - i. That the operator's DMV driver's license being restricted, suspended, or revoked.
 - ii. Charges for moving violations while operating a vehicle.
 - iii. Legal charges or convictions while operating a vehicle.
- f) Employees who fail to report such offenses outlined may be subject to disciplinary action up to and including termination.
- 3. Disciplinary Actions Related to Poor Driving Performance:
- a) If a county employee incurs violations while operating a county vehicle the employee may receive the following disciplinary actions:
 - i. Revocation or suspension of their driver's license will result in loss of driving privileges for County vehicles.
 - ii. Failure to report a moving violation while driving on County business will result in disciplinary action as defined by County policy. iii. Failure to report an accident while driving on County business will result in disciplinary action as defined by county policy.

An employee who is charged with a DUI/DWI while on or off the job is prohibited from operating County owned vehicles until a decision on the charge is rendered in Court. If the employee normally operates a County owned vehicle, an assignment to a non-driving position may be required. If a non-driving assignment is not available, the employee may be required to take appropriate leave, or be placed on administrative leave without pay pending the outcome of the court decision.

22. ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATIONS ACCEPTABLE USE

The County may provide electronic, digital, and wireless communications equipment for County business purposes. Any communication received, sent, and stored on this equipment will be subject to monitoring and in the course of this monitoring, may be read for content. There should be no expectation of privacy in any communications received, sent, or stored on any equipment or service provided by the County. County provided telephones and radios are for work related purposes. While occasional personal calls may be permitted, the number and duration of such calls should be limited and not interfere with normal job functions, responsiveness, or the ability to perform daily job activities. Failure to follow this guideline is a performance issue and will be addressed by the employee's department head. Other than in emergency situations, use of personal cell phones/personal electronic devices should be limited to lunch time or breaks.

22.1 COUNTY COMPUTER USAGE

The IT policy for the County of Pittsylvania establishes guidelines for the proper and acceptable use of all information systems including e-mail by county employees, elected officials, volunteers, interns, and any other affiliates who may be authorized to use or perform work on hardware, software, devices, and/or network connections provided by the County of Pittsylvania. All electronic data created with, received by, or stored within any of the systems mentioned above, administered by the County of Pittsylvania, are the property of the county, and therefore, are not considered private to an individual, except where legally stated. Employees do not have personal privacy rights in using the county's e-mail system, internet, nor any other hardware or software owned and operated by the county. The County Administrator or Director of Information Technology reserve the right to restrict or remove access or availability of electronic tools for any employee or user of our network or connections as provided by the County of Pittsylvania that violates appropriate use and/or security policies and practices. Refer to the Information Technology Policy you were given at the time of employment, as well as any revisions that may apply, for more specific information as to what is and is not permissible for the systems owned by and administered by the County of Pittsylvania.

County systems should not be used to solicit or sell products or services that are unrelated to the County's business; distract, intimidate, or harass coworkers or third parties; or otherwise disrupt the workplace.

22.2 BRING YOUR OWN DEVICE POLICY

Employees may from time to time use their personal devices for work purposes, so long as the device is not shared with non-employees, the device is protected with appropriate passwords, and if the employee adheres to all applicable County policies when using the personal device.

The term "device" shall include any electronic apparatus that accesses the County's systems (e.g., County e-mail and internet), including desktop computers, laptops, tablets, smartwatches, etc.

The County will address connectivity issues, but not operating system or hardwarerelated issues and is not responsible for any increase in employees' bills related to personal device usage.

Nonexempt employees may not use their personal devices for work purposes outside their normal work schedule without authorization in advance from management. This includes reviewing, sending and responding to e-mails or text messages, responding to phone calls, making phone calls, and any other activity conducted for the benefit of the County. Employees may not use their personal devices for work purposes during periods of unpaid leave without authorization from management. Employees who violate this policy may be subject to disciplinary action.

Because the public library also provides computers and internet access to the public, its internet requirements meet federal and state requirements and are dictated by the acceptable use policy required by the Commonwealth of Virginia and approved by the Board of Trustees.

22.3 SOCIAL MEDIA POLICY

A. GUIDELINES

The same principles and guidelines apply to your activities online. Keep in mind that any of your conduct that adversely affects your job performance, the performance of fellow employees or otherwise adversely affects customers, vendors, others who work on behalf of the County or the County's legitimate business interests may result in disciplinary action up to and including termination.

B. KNOW AND FOLLOW THE RULES

Carefully review this policy, the County's Electronic Communications Acceptable Use Policy and the County's Harassment Policy to ensure that your postings are consistent with these policies. Inappropriate postings that may include discriminatory remarks, harassment, and threats of violence or similar inappropriate or unlawful conduct will not be tolerated and may subject you to disciplinary action up to and including termination.

- Maintain the confidentiality of the County's trade secrets and private or confidential information. Trade secrets may include information regarding the development of systems, processes, products, know-how and technology. Do not post internal reports, policies, procedures or other internal business-related confidential communications.
- 2. Do not create a link from your blog website or other social networking site to a County, website without identifying yourself as a county employee.

3. Express only your personal opinions. Never represent yourself as a spokesperson for County. If the County is a subject of the content you are creating, be clear and open about the fact that you are an employee and make it clear that your views do not represent those of the County, fellow employees, customers, vendors or others working on behalf of the County. If you do publish a blog or post online related to the work you do or subjects associated with the County, make it clear that you are not speaking on behalf of the County. It is best to include a disclaimer, such as, "The postings on this site are my own and do not necessarily reflect the views of the County."

C. USING SOCIAL MEDIA AT WORK

Do not use your county email addresses to register on social networks, discount coupons blogs or other online tools utilized for personal use. Employees should refrain from excessive use of social media for personal reasons during working time. Remember that we must all fulfill the responsibilities of our individual jobs and social media should not interfere with your job or your commitments to our customers. Any business use must be consistent with the County's Electronic Communications Acceptable Use Policy and our Harassment Policy.

D. COUNTY-SPONSORED SOCIAL MEDIA

The County expects employees to use good judgment while participating in any County-sponsored collaboration or social media and to exercise personal responsibility over any exchanges they participate in.

23. POLITICAL ACTIVITY

All County employees are encouraged to exercise their right to vote and to express private opinions on candidates and issues. However, to ensure and maintain each employee's individual rights free from interference or solicitation by fellow employees, supervisors or officials, political activities during working hours or when officially representing the County are prohibited. General statements of County policies and practices include:

- A. An employee shall not be coerced to support a political activity or to sign petitions for office.
- B. An employee shall not engage in political activity on work premises during work hours.
- C. An employee shall not use County resources, including but not limited to County vehicles, for political activities.
- D. An employee shall not use, discriminate in favor of or against, any person or applicant for employment based on political activities.

- E. An employee shall not use the employee's title or position while engaging in political activity.
- F. Constitutional Officers and their appointees will conform to the State Board of Election Laws.

24. CREDIT CARD POLICY

24.1 PURPOSE

The purpose of this policy is to establish guidelines for Pittsylvania County to be able to issue credit cards to officers and employees for the purpose of covering expenses related to authorized travel and other authorized purchases. This policy will provide guidance to enable a cost effective, convenient and streamlined method of purchasing items for Pittsylvania County. Reports on cardholder activity will enable the County of Pittsylvania to capture information necessary to better manage Pittsylvania County purchasing activities. This policy replaces Section 3 of the Travel Training and Education Policy adopted by the Board of Supervisors on August 5, 2013.

24.2 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS TO USE CREDIT CARDS

A. Under this policy a credit card may be issued to an individual who is:

- 1. An employee or elected constitutional officer for the County of Pittsylvania who demonstrates a need to use a county credit card either for authorized travel or an authorized purchase or
- 2. A member of the Board of Supervisors only for travel outside of the County of Pittsylvania on an "as needed" basis.
- B. Authorized employees or elected officials may use a county credit card to purchase merchandise or services required as a function of his/her duties for Pittsylvania County. Unauthorized and/or inappropriate credit card use is addressed in Section V of this policy. Disciplinary actions related to unauthorized and/or inappropriate credit card use is addressed in Section VI of this policy.
- C. An authorized credit card purchase may be made in-store, by telephone, fax, internet or U.S. mail.

24.3 CARD ISSUANCE:

Credit cards for the County are maintained by the Purchasing Manager. Employees or elected county officials who have been authorized to utilize a county credit card must check out a credit card from the Purchasing Manager and sign an employee agreement concerning credit card purchases. Only one agreement is necessary per employee not per card use. A sample of the employee agreement form is attached. Cards must be

returned to the Purchasing Manager within five (5) business days of the employee's return to work for authorized travel and within one (1) business day when the card is used for other authorized purchases.

24.4 SECURITY:

- A. Authorized use of the credit card is limited to the employee or elected official whom the credit card was issued to. The credit card shall not be loaned to another employee or elected official but should first be returned to the Purchasing Manager to be reissued.
- B. It is the responsibility of authorized credit card user to safeguard the credit card and the credit

card account number at all times by keeping the card in a secure location at all times. Lost or stolen credit cards must be reported immediately to the Finance Director of Pittsylvania County.

C. The Finance Director will notify the County Administrator and the credit card agency of this lost or stolen card.

24.5 UNATHORIZED AND INAPPROPRIATE USE:

Credit cards must never be used to purchase items for personal use, even if the employee or elected official intends to reimburse the County of Pittsylvania. Purchases for non-Pittsylvania County purposes include but are not limited to cash advances, food not previously authorized, alcoholic beverages, recreation, entertainment and any other expense considered personal.

24.6 DISCIPLINARY ACTION:

- A. An employee or elected official who makes unauthorized or inappropriate purchases with the county credit care will be subject to disciplinary action including but not limited to restitution to the County of Pittsylvania for the unauthorized or inappropriate purchase, possible inability to utilize county credit cards in the future, possible termination of employment at Pittsylvania County and possible criminal prosecution. Restitution for unauthorized/inappropriate purchases shall be paid by the employee or elected official by check or salary deduction.
- B. Unacceptable or unauthorized purchases MUST be reported immediately to the County Administrator. The Board of Supervisors will subsequently be made aware of these charges by the County Administrator even if the affected employee/elected official has made arrangements to make restitution for these unauthorized/unacceptable purchases.

C. Improper use of the issued credit card may result in prosecution of embezzlement under section 18.2-112 of the Code of Virginia.

24.7 CREDIT CARD ACCOUNTABILITY:

In order for spending limits to be monitored and purchasing activity reconciled to the monthly charge card statements, authorized credit cards users must maintain a separate log of purchases made with the credit card. A Credit Card Log Sheet (see attached) should be established with each credit card issuance and submitted to the Accountant in the Finance Department when the card has been turned in to the Purchasing Manager. This must be done within five (5) business days after the employee returns to work for authorized travel and after one (1) business day when the card is used for authorized purchases. To use the card, the authorized user must:

- A. Identify the vendor that accepts VISA and sells the required goods and services.
 - B. Call or go to the vendor's place of business and place an order.
- C. Give the vendor the account number and expiration date of the credit card. The vendor will verify the account number with VISA. The spending limit will be checked electronically for compliance with applicable limits. Inform the vendor that the County is tax exempt.
- D. Be sure there is NO SALES TAX applied to any purchases. Pittsylvania County is tax exempt from sales tax, but must pay meals tax.
- E. Retain all documents pertaining to the purchase. When the vendor delivers the order, documentation of the purchase, such as sales receipt or packing slip should accompany the order. Detailed receipts must be retained for ALL purchases including meals. Detailed receipts will list individual items purchased. This documentation must be attached to the credit card log sheet and submitted to the Accountant in the Finance Department so that these charges can be reconciled to the monthly credit card statement.

24.8 DOCUMENTATION, RECONCILIATION, AND PAYMENT PROCEDURES:

- A. Documentation: Any time a purchase is made with the credit card, the authorized user must obtain a customer copy of the charge slip, which will become the accountable document (make sure all carbons are destroyed). The charge slip MUST provide a detailed list of each item purchased including cost. When used to pay for meals, employees may have to specifically request detailed receipts that list each item purchased.
- B. Telephone Orders: The authorized user must obtain an invoice from the vendor after the order is placed.

C. Missing Documentation: If the authorized user does not have documentation of the transaction to send with the credit card transaction log (sample log attached) for any transaction other than telephone orders as described above, he or she MUST contact the vendor to get a duplicate receipt. If the purchase cannot be documented you will be responsible for paying the purchase from your own personal funds. Recurring abuse of this provision may result in an employee/elected official's inability to utilize County credit cards in the future.

24.9 PERIODIC REVIEW:

The credit card statement will be audited monthly and reconciled with the credit card log sheets and receipts received by the Accountant in the Finance Department. Monthly reports will also be submitted to the Board of Supervisors for review. This report will show the item purchased, amount spent and the name of the individual making the purchase.

25. RECORDKEEPING POLICY

The HR department retains and destroys personnel records in accordance with the Library of Virginia policies on business records retention as well as federal and state laws governing records retention. Below is an outline of the HR department's operating procedures for personnel records retention and destruction of documents when such retention periods have passed.

The HR department maintains both employee record information and government compliance reports. Both are subject to the following retention requirements and destruction procedures.

25.1 MAINTENANCE OF EMPLOYEE RECORDS

- A. The following employee information records are maintained in segregated personnel files:
 - 1. Pre-employment information.
 - 2. I-9 forms.
 - 3. Benefits plan and employee medical records.
 - 4. Health and safety records.
 - 5. General employee personnel records.
- B. Government compliance reports are maintained in reverse chronological sequence and filed separately from the above employee information records.
- C. Employees who wish to review their own files should submit a written request to Management. Employees may receive copies of certain personnel or medical records, such as their job description, as required by law, within 30 days of making a written request to Human Resources. With reasonable notice, employees may

review their entire personnel file in the presence of Management, but must sign an acknowledgment form provided by Management.

- D. Destruction of Employee and Applicant Records
- E. All paper personnel records and confidential employee data maintained by the HR department will be destroyed by shredding after retention dates have passed; this procedure pertains to all personnel records, not just those governed by the Fair and Accurate Credit Transactions Act (FACTA).
- F. Application materials submitted by applicants for employment who were never employed are also to be shredded.
- G. Personnel records include electronic as well as paper records. The HR department will work with the IT department periodically, but no less than twice annually to review and ensure that the HR department's electronic records relating to employee information and compliance reports are properly purged.

25.2 RETENTION OF TERMINATED EMPLOYEES' RECORDS

The retention periods for terminated employees' and applicants' records and compliance reports are as follows:

- A. Résumés, applications and related employment materials, including interview records and notes, for applicants not hired: 3 years.
- B. Résumés, applications and related employment materials, including interview records and notes, for employees: 4 years after date of termination.
- C. Background checks, drug test results, driving records, County employment verifications, letters of reference and related documents: 5 years.
- D. Terminated employee I-9 Forms: The later of 3 years from date of hire or 1 year following termination of employment.
- E. Compensation, job history and timekeeping records: 4 years after termination. FMLA and USERRA and related leave records: 3 years after termination. Performance appraisal and disciplinary action records: 4 years after termination.
- F. Benefit records: 6 years after the filing date of the documents, based on the information they contain, or 6 years after the date on which such documents would have been filed but for an exemption or simplified reporting requirement.
- G. Disputed issues (records relating to issues 2 years after resolution of dispute involving external agencies or parties, wage-hour investigation by DOL, EEOC charge, arbitrations, court actions, etc.), OSHA and employee safety records: 5 years after termination.

H. Employee personnel records: Long Term – 50 years after separation.

25.3 RETENTION OF REPORTS

- A. Workers' compensation claims: 30 years after date of injury/illness.
- B. Employee health records: 30 years after separation.
- C. Compliance reports and records:
- D. State New Hire reports: 1 year after report was filed.
- E. EEO-1: 2 years after report was filed.
- F. Annual Affirmative Action plans: 2 years after close of AAP year.
- G. OSHA 300/300A: 5 years after posting.
- H. Form 5500: 6 years after report was filed.
- I. Federal/state tax reports: 4 years after report was filed.

26. EMPLOYEE RECOGNITION AND SERVICE AWARDS

Subject to available funds, regular full-time and part-time employees who meet specific eligibility requirements may be considered for programs which recognize continuous employment or other special employee contributions that the County from time to time develops.

Service awards shall generally be in recognition of continuous employment for five-year increments of time, and as follows:

A. An employee's service shall be considered continuous so long as his/her name remains in an uninterrupted way on the County's payroll, and/or;

- 1. The employee is on an approved leave of absence under the terms of the County's Employee Manual.
 - 2. The employee has been laid off involuntarily.
- 3. The employee enters military service and returns to work within ninety (90) days after his/her honorable discharge.
- B. No credit for prior service shall be considered in the award program in a case where an employee is terminated by reason of voluntary resignation or discharge, and then re-hired.

- C. An employee whose service terminates for any reason prior to his/her appropriate employment anniversary date shall not be eligible to receive an award, with certain exceptions as follows:
 - 1. The employee shall receive an award if he/she retires voluntarily or is required by reason of physical disability to retire within ninety days of the appropriate anniversary date.
 - 2. The employee's family shall receive the award if he/she dies within ninety days of the appropriate anniversary date.
- D. The County Administrator shall have discretionary authority to recognize employees (other than service) in amounts of \$500 or less.

27. INTERNSHIPS

Departments within Pittsylvania County have the option of using interns to assist in meeting their goals and objectives. It is important the selection and use of interns is consistent among each department. The framework of our internship administrative policy and procedure is outlined below.

27.1 Policy

Pittsylvania County supports internship programs sponsored by colleges, universities, local government or affiliated entities. In addition, if there is a specific department need, a department, upon notification to the Human Resources Department, may advertise for interns to assist with special projects. The County may provide for paid or unpaid internship opportunities. Internships are designed to provide a hands-on learning experience for the participant and, if paid, should meet the following criteria outlined by the Fair Labor Standards Act:

- A. The internship, even though it includes actual operation of the facilities of the employer, is similar to training which would be given in an educational environment;
- B. The internship experience is for the benefit of the intern;
- C. The intern does not displace regular employees, but works under close supervision of existing staff;
- D. The employer that provides the training derives no immediate advantage from the activities of the intern; and on occasion its operations may actually be impeded;
- E. The intern is not necessarily entitled to a job at the conclusion of the internship; and

F. The employer and the intern understand that the intern is not entitled to wages for the time spent in the internship.

If these criteria cannot be met, then the internship must be a paid internship. Departments must work with the Director of Finance to ensure they have funding available in their budget for paid interns.

Interns utilized by the County must be at least 18 years of age, currently enrolled in a degree program that is relevant to the internship, be in good academic standing, and be registered for courses during the internship period. Summer interns must be enrolled in the upcoming Fall semester. Interns are required to complete a county application and submit an official transcript. Interns must also be lawfully authorized to work in the United States and are required to provide proof of authorization. The Human Resources Director must approve all interns prior to their start date.

27.2 Responsibility

Department Directors: Department Directors are responsible for ensuring their department can meet the specific objectives of the student and educational institution when utilizing a sponsored internship. Department Directors are also responsible for managing interns and completing all necessary recordkeeping related to the performance and experience of interns in their department. This includes completing any required reports and providing feedback to the sponsoring agency. In addition, Department Directors are responsible for ensuring interns are selected and utilized within the framework of this administrative policy and procedure.

Human Resources: Human Resources is responsible for oversight of the hiring and use of interns.

27.3 Procedure

A. Special Projects

- 1) If a department has a need for an intern to assist with a special project, then the Department Director should provide written justification to the Human Resources Director for approval. The justification must include the need for an intern, how the intern will be utilized, length of time required, and whether or not the intern will be paid.
- 2) If approved, the department will create a request to the Human Resources Director to advertise for an intern on the County website.
- 3) Human Resources will accept applications and monitor the recruitment process. The department is responsible for screening applications received for internships and conducting interviews with guidance from the Human Resources Director.

- 4) Once an intern is selected, the recommendation should be sent to the Human Resources Department for approval and necessary screenings. Interns must satisfactorily complete a back ground check prior to their first work day with the County.
- 5) Human Resources will alert the department when their interns are able to begin their assignment.

B. Sponsored Internships

- 1) The Human Resources Department will notify Department Directors of internship opportunities available to them through colleges, universities, or other government or affiliated entities.
- 2) Department Directors wishing to participate should notify the Human Resources Director.
- 3) The Human Resources Director, or designee, serves as the liaison between the organization providing the intern and the department, and is responsible for oversight of the process.
- 4) Department Directors will interview interns provided by the organization and make a final selection.
- 5) Once a selection is made, the Human Resources Department will conduct necessary screenings. Interns must satisfactorily complete a back ground check prior to their first work day with the County.
- 6) Human Resources will alert the department when their interns are able to begin their assignment.

28. SEVERABILITY AND MODIFICATIONS

A. Conflicting Policies Repealed

All prior policies that conflict with the provisions of this policy is hereby repealed.

B. Severability

Should any section, subsection or provision of this Manual be declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unconstitutional, such decision shall not affect the validity or constitutionality of this Manual as a whole or any part thereof, other than the part so declared, to be invalid and unconstitutional.

C. Right to Amend

The County reserves the right to modify all or any part of this Manual as may become necessary.

D. Violation of Policy Provisions

An employee violating any of the provisions of this policy shall be subject to disciplinary action, suspension, and/or dismissal, in addition to any civil or criminal penalty.

E. Effective Date

This policy shall become effective upon adoption.